KWAME NKRUMAH UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCE & TECHNOLOGY,

KUMASI

COMPARISON OF GLYCATED ALBUMIN AND GLYCATED **HEMOGLOBIN LEVELS IN THE MANAGEMENT OF TYPE 2 DIABETIC** PATIENTS IN THE TEMA METROPOLIS OF GHANA

A THESIS SUBMITTED IN FULFILLMENT

OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE

DEGREE OF

MASTER OF PHILOSOPHY

(Chemical Pathology)

In the

Department of Molecular Medicine,

School of Medical Sciences

College of Health

By

5AP3 PATIENCE NAA ADAKU BORTIE

PG9921913

NOVEMBER, 2016

DECLARATION

The research work described in this thesis was carried out at the Department of Molecular Medicine-KNUST and Tema General Hospital between October, 2013 and March, 2015. This work has never been submitted for any other degree.



ABSTRACT

Background: Glycated Albumin (GA) has been proposed as an important index in assessing chronic glycaemic control in diabetic patients other than glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c), besides it reflects shorter periods of glycaemia.

Aim: This study sought to validate the use of Glycated Albumin and Glycated Hemoglobin, as biomarkers of glycaemic control among Ghanaian diabetes patients. Research design and methods: Venous blood samples were taken from 200 participants of whom 150 were type 2 diabetic patients and 50 healthy individuals without diabetes. The blood samples were analyzed for fasting glucose, lipid profile, renal function (BUN, CRT and eGFR), serum total protein and albumin on fully automated analyzer, Roche COBAS Integra 400 Plus System. The A₁ fast fraction – cation exchange method was used to estimate the level of glycated hemoglobin whilst the sandwich enzyme-linked immunosorbent one-step process assay (ELISA) was used for the assay of the Human Glycosylated Albumin (GA) level in the samples. Results: Blood glucose, Glycated hemoglobin, Glycated albumin, GA/HbA1c and serum albumin were significantly (P < 0.05) increased in the patients with diabetes compared to the non-diabetics. Renal assessment indicated significant differences (P < 0.05) in levels of serum urea, creatinine and sodium with increased levels in the diabetic patients. The estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) was also significantly (P<0.0001) reduced in the diabetics (eGFR value) compared to the non-diabetes (eGFR value). The proportion of excellent control of blood glucose assessed using GA, 11.3%, was lower than that assessed by HbA1c (16.7%). Also, glycemic control assessed by GA showed a greater proportion of poor control (35.3%) than when assessed by HbA1c (28.7%). Across the various age groups, diabetic nephropathy (29.3%) was more prevalent in the diabetic patients aged between 70-79 years and retinopathy (43.3%) more prevalent in the patients aged 60-69 years. Correlation between the levels of HbA1c and Glycated albumin among patients with diabetes a showed a highly significant relationship (P<0.001). Poor glycaemic control determined by HbA1c and GA were highly associated with Obesity and reduced kidney function.

Conclusion: Glycated albumin reflects glucose excursions more strongly than HbA1c; hence GA might be a more sensitive index for some diabetic complications than HbA1c.

DEDICATION

I dedicate this work to God Almighty whose grace and mercy has brought me this far and also to my lovely husband George Bortie, my son Caleb, my daughters Rachael and Stephanie, my mother Emelia Ameley Okine and father Emmanuel Ayeequaye Okine.



ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I desire to express my sincere gratitude and indebtedness to Dr. W.K.B.A. Owiredu of the Department of Molecular Medicine, Kwame Nkrumah University of Science and Technology (KNUST) and Prof. George Asare of the Department of Medical Laboratory Technology of School of Allied Health Sciences, University of Ghana for their supervision, encouragement, pieces of advice, guidance and directions in the course of study, God richly bless you!i

Also, to the matron and all nurses at the Diabetic and Eye clinics of Tema General Hospital, Michael and Prinscilla of TGH Chemical Pathology Laboratory and Mr Edem Hope Kwablavi of Civil Service Clinic, I say a big thank you for your assistance and support during my sample collection and analysis. My course mates cannot be left out because it was through their invaluable support and team spirit exuded during the whole project work that brought the successful end of this work. Finally, I wish to thank all the participants for their co-operation and voluntary to participate in this research.



KNUST

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATIONii
ABSTRACTiii
DEDICATIONiv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT
TABLE OF CONTENTS
LIST OF TABLESix
LIST OF FIGURESx
ABBREVIATIONS
CHAPTER 1
INTRODUCTION
1.1 General Introduction
1.2 Study Hypothesis
1.3 Problem Statement
1.4 Justification
1.5 Expected Benefits
1.6 Aim
1.6.1 Specific objectives
CHAPTER 2
LITERETURE REVIEW
2.0 Diabetes
2.1 Signs and Symptoms9
2.2 Causes of Diabetes

	2.2.1 Type 1	.10
	2.2.2 Type 2	.11
	2.3 Diagnosis of Diabetes Mellitus	.12
	2.4 Glycated Hemoglobin	.14
	2.5 Glycated Albumin	.18
	2.6 Complications of Diabetes Mellitus	. 20
	2.7 Metabolic effects of Insulin and Diabetes Mellitus	.21
	2.8 Metabolic Complications of Diabetes Mellitus	.22
	2.9 Lipid and Ketone Metabolism	.24
С	HAPTER 3	. 26
Μ	IATERIALS AND METHODS	. 26
	3.1 Study Site and Study Design	.26
	3.2 Study Population	.26
	3.2.1 Sample Size Justification	.26
	3.2.2 Inclusion Criteria	. 27
	3.2.3 Exclusion Criteria	. 27
	3.3 Participant Recruitment	.28
	3.4 Ethical Consideration	. 28
	3.5 Data Collection	. 28
	3.6 Anthropometric Measurement	. 28
	3.7 Blood Sample Collection and Processing	. 29
	3.8 Assay Methods	. 29
	3.8.1 Fasting Blood Glucose	. 29
	3.8.2 Total Cholesterol	. 30
	3.8.3 Triglycerides	. 30
	3.8.4 HDL Cholesterol	.31
	3.8.5 LDL Cholesterol	. 31
	3.8.6 Serum Albumin (ALB)	.31
	3.8.7 Total protein (PRO)	. 32
	3.8.8 Blood Urea Nitrogen (BUN)	. 32
	3.8.9 Creatinine (CRE)	. 32
	3.9 Estimation of Glomerular Filtration Rate	. 32
	3.10 Glycosylated Hemoglobin (HbA1c)	. 33
	3.11 Glycosylated Albumin (GA)	. 34

3.12 Diagnostic Criteria for Metabolic Syndrome	
3.13 Glycemic Control	
3.14 Statistical Analysis	
CHAPTER 4	
RESULTS	
4.1 Demographics, clinical characteristics and measures of Anthropometry .	
4.2 Biochemical characteristics, dyslipidemia and measures of renal function	137
4.3 Age distribution, measure of Anthropometry, and prevalence of complication	disease 38
4.4 Glycemic indices, dyslipidemia and measures of renal function amo	ong the
4.5 Proportion of glycemic control and Disease complications	41
4.6 Anthropometry, dyslipidemia and renal function among the diabetic pat relation to their sickling status	ients in 42
4.7 Glycemic indices and proportion of glycemic control among the diabetic participation of glycemic control among the diabetic participat	patients 43
4.8 Glycemic indices and proportion of glycaemic control of patients with c stratified by the disease complication	liabetes
4.9 Anthropometry, dyslipidemia and renal function of the diabetic patients we without disease complications	/ith and 46
4.10 Renal impairment assessed by estimated glomerular filtration rate among diabetic patients in relation to their disease complications	(eGFR)
4.11 Clinical characteristics of the patients with metabolic syndrome	
4.12 Relationship between glycemic indices, age, measures of obesity, total and serum albumin	protein 50
4.13 Relationship between glycemic indices and dyslipidemia	51
4.14 Relationship between glycemic indices and measures of renal function	
4.15 Determinants of poor glycaemic control among participants	53
4.16 Area under the curve for HbA1c and GA as markers for Glycemic cont	rol54
4.17 Accuracy of Glycemic control in the management of T2DM	
CHAPTER 5	
DISCUSSION	
5.1 Introduction	
5.2 Anthropometric variables in T2DM	
5.3 Dyslipidemia (Total cholesterol, Triglyceride, LDL, HDL) in T2DM	
5.4 Renal function in T2DM	59

5.5 Complications associated with T2DM6	0
5.6 Variations in Glycated hemoglobin, Glycated albumin and Glycemic contro assessed by both criteria in T2DM	1 2
5.7 Metabolic syndrome in Type 2 Diabetes	3
5.8 Relationship between Glycemic indices (HbA1c and GA), hemoglobin and serum albumin	d 4
5.9 Risk factors associated with poor glycemic control using both criteria in T2DM	1 5
5.10 Predictive value of HbA1c and GA in the monitoring of t2dm	6
CHAPTER 6	7
CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION	7
6.1 CONCLUSION	7
6.2 RECOMMENDATION	8
REFERENCES	9

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2 1: Comparison of Type 1 And 2 Diabetes 9
Table 4.1: Demographics, clinical characteristics and measures of Anthropometry
among study participants 38
Table 4 2: Biochemical characteristics, dyslipidemia and measures of renal function
among th <mark>e diabetic patience and the non-diabetics</mark>
Table 4.3: Age distribution, measure of Anthropometry, and prevalence of disease
complication among the diabetic patients stratified by gender
Table 4.4: Glycemic indices, dyslipidemia and measures of renal function among the
diabetic patients in relation to Gender
Table 4.5: Proportion of glycemic control among diabetic patients assessed by HbA1c
and GA
Table 4.6: Anthropometry, dyslipidemia and renal function among the diabetic
patients in relation to their sickling status
Table 4.7: Glycaemic indices and proportion of glycemic control among the diabetic
patients stratified by their sickling status
Table 4.8: Glycemic indices and proportion of glycemic control of patients with
diabetes stratified by the disease complication

Table 4.9: Anthropometry, dyslipidemia and renal function of the diabetic patients
with and without disease complications
Table 4.10: Renal impairment assessed by estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR)
among diabetic patients in relation to their disease complications 50 Table
4.11: Clinical characteristics of the patients with metabolic syndrome
Table 4.12: Relationship between glycemic indices, age, measures of obesity, total
protein and serum albumin (Person's correlation) 54
Table 4.13: Relationship between glycemic indices, age, measures of obesity, total
protein and serum albumin (Person's correlation) 55
Table 4.14: Relationship between glycemic indices and measures of renal function
(Person's correlation)
Table 4.15: Logistic regression of determinants for poor glycaemic control assessed by
HbA1c and Glycated Albumin (GA) in diabetic patients
Table 4.16: Accuracy of Glycemic control in the management of T2DM

LIST OF FIGURES

.

1

Figure 2.1: Signs and symptoms of Diabetes
Figure 4.1: Percentage occurrence of complications of diabetes across the various age
distributions
Figure 4.2: Relationship between HbA1c and GA levels in patients with diabetes (A)
and without diabetes (B), r= Pearson's correlation coefficient, n = Number
of patients
Figure 4.3: Relationship between HbA1c and Haemoglobin; and GA and Serum
albumin levels in patients with diabetes (A1, B1) and without diabetes
(A2, B2), r= Pearson's correlation coefficient, n = Number of patients 53
W J SANE NO BADHS

	KNUS ABBREVIATIONS	
AGE:	Advanced glycation end products	
ADP:	Adenosine-5-diphosphate	
ATP:	Adenosine-5-triphosphate	
BUN:	Blood urea nitrogen	
BMI:	Body mass index	
BCG:	Bromocresol green	
°C :	Degrees Celsius	
CKD:	Chronic Kidney Disease	
CKD- EPI:	Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration	
cm: Centimeter		
CAT-I:	Carnitine acyl transferase	
DM:	Diabetes Mellitus	
DKA:	Diabetic ketoacidosis	
DHAP:	Dihydroxyacetone phosphate	
EDTA:	Ethylene diamine tetracetic acid	
ELISA:	Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay	
eGFR:	Estimated Glomerular Filtration Rate	
FBG :	Fasting blood glucose	
FFAs:	Free fatty acids	

GA :	Glycated Albumin
GDM:	Gestational diabetes mellitus
g :	grams
GLDH:	Glutamate dehydrogenase
GFR: HbA: HbS :	Glomerular Filtration Rate Hemoglobin A Hemoglobin S
HbC:	Hemoglobin C
HbD:	Hemoglobin D
HB:	Hemoglobin
HK:	Hexokinase
HbA1C/GHb:	Glycated Haemoglobin
HHS:	Hyperosmolar hyperglycaemic state
HDL:	High density lipoprotein
2Hr PP:	Two (2) hour post prandial
H2O2:	Hydrogen peroxide
IFG :	Impaired Fasting Glycaemia
IGT:	Impaired Glucose Tolerance
IEC:	International Expert Committee
IR:	Insulin Receptor
Kg:	kilogram
Kg/m ² :	kilogram per meters squared
KDOQI:	Kidney Disease Outcomes Quality Initiative
KNUST:	Kwame Nkrumah University of Science & Technology
LADA:	Latent Autoimmune Diabetes of Adults
LDL:	Low Density Lipoprotein

LDL-C:	Low density lipoprotein cholesterol concentration	
Mmol/L:	Millimol per liter	
ml:	Mills	
NCEP ATP III:	National Cholesterol Education Programme Adult	
	Treatment Panel III	
NH3:	Ammonia	
OGTT:	Oral Glucose Tolerance Test	
RBG:	Random blood glucose	
SCD:	Sickle cell disease	
S.ALB:	Serum Albumin	
TC:	Total cholesterol	
TP:	Total Protein	
TG:	Total triglyceride	
TGH	Tema General Hospital	
T2DM:	Type2 Diabetes Mellitus	
VLDL:	Very low density lipoprotein	
WHO:	World Health Organization	
WHR:	Waist to Hip Ratio	
WC:	Waist Circumference	
The a	20	
A Car	E BAU	
Z	SANE NO	

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 General Introduction

Diabetes mellitus is a cluster of metabolic disorders whose main characteristic is persistent hyperglycaemia. Type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM) is largely due to cellular mediated autoimmune destruction of the β -cells of islets of langerhans and results in decreased insulin production. Type 2 diabetes (T2DM) is characterized by insulin resistance or abnormal insulin secretion (Kumar *et al.*, 2005).

An estimated 2.8% of the world's population has diabetes and this is expected to increase to about 4.4% by the year 2030. T2DM however makes up about 90% of the cases (Hedley *et al.*, 2004; Wild *et al.*, 2004). In Ghana, type 2 diabetes mellitus is at a crude prevalence rate of 6.3% and an age-adjusted prevalence of 6.4% (Amoah *et al.*, 2002).

With the rapidly increasing prevalence and projections on diabetes mellitus, there is an urgent need to develop affordable and effective preventive strategies and identify highrisk populations in whom such strategies can be implemented (King *et al.*, 1998).

Various laboratory tests are available for screening and monitoring or managing diabetic cases. These include: fasting or random blood glucose (FBG/RBG), oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT), two (2) hour post prandial test and glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c). HbA1c, the most widely used assay, measures the percentage of circulating haemoglobin that has chemically reacted with glucose and reflects blood glucose concentrations over the prior 120 days, with the most profound effect in the preceding 30 days (Calisti & Tognetti, 2005). It therefore reflects the ability of

metabolic control within the desired range and also enables the estimation of the risk of chronic diabetic complications (Takahashi *et al.*, 2007).

This has however come with its own problems and limitations. HbA1c values are influenced significantly in all conditions or haemoglobinopathies characterized by either shortening of the life span of erythrocytes or the changing proportion of young to old erythrocytes (Goldstein *et al.*, 2004). Some of these include, haemoglobin variants (HbS, HbC, HbD), drugs, anaemia, uremia, alcoholism and dialysis. Limitations resulting from most inherent assay methods also compromise the clinical utility of the HbA1c maker (Calisti *et al.*, 2005).

A newer indicator of glycaemic control, the Glycated Albumin (GA) has been proposed and is rapidly becoming a significant index in assessing glycaemic control. Early stage reaction product of albumin or serum protein is called Glycated Albumin or Fructosamine (Ahmad, 2005). It has been suggested that GA provides a significantly better glycaemic control in patients with conditions that may cause decreased red cell lifespan, especially haemodialysis. Assessment of HbA1C in such patients is likely to cause an underestimation mostly due to increasing proportions of young erythrocytes (Inaba *et al.*, 2007).

Moreover, serum albumin has a shorter lifespan (15-20days) than that of red blood cells (120 days) and with a higher turnover than haemoglobin. This also makes GA better in assessing short-term changes (2 weeks) in diabetic control. There have also been suggestions on the need for a mid-range test that could be performed monthly as a means of helping people with diabetes manage their glucose levels more effectively (Takahashi *et al.*, 2007).

In the light of these benefits, GA may also be affected by other factors like BMI, treatment modalities and endogenous insulin secretion. There is therefore the need to also evaluate other factors which may affect the interpretation and use of this marker.

Moreover the characteristics and applicability of this marker in the Ghanaian population remains to be determined. The current study therefore seeks to evaluate the use of Glycated Albumin compared to HbA1C as biomarkers of glycaemic control and other factors which may be associated with its use.

1.2 Study Hypothesis

Plasma GA is a more accurate marker of glycaemic control than HbA1c which could help in the determination of short term glucose control, hence better management of diabetic patients.

1.3 Problem Statement

Glycated hemoglobin has over the years been a very useful tool in the monitoring of glycaemic control in diabetics. This has however come with several challenges. The test is relatively expensive and is affected by several conditions, which may decrease red blood cell survival, a pre-requisite for adequate chemical bonding of glucose. This therefore is an indication of the non-applicability of the test in all populations, hence the need to identify a better marker of glycaemic control for every population. Glycated Albumin has therefore been suggested. There are reports that, Glycated Albumin is also affected by endogenous insulin secretion in diabetics(Koenig *et al.*, 1976), thus necessitating the evaluation of the marker, especially among type 2 diabetes patients.

1.4 Justification

Internationally, at least one person dies every 10 seconds whereas four limbs are surgically remove every 30 seconds as a result of diabetic complications. Prevalence

and projections on Diabetes Mellitus is alarming and there is an urgent need to develop affordable and effective preventive strategies (King *et al.*, 1998). The numerous complications that present with diabetes will also be prevented or reduced drastically upon effective strategies to diagnose, predict and manage the condition.

The HbA1c test is designed to measure the average blood glucose levels over previous 2-3 months, giving an indicator of longer-term blood glucose control(Calisti *et al.*, 2005). Aside the high cost of performing the test, which is largely borne by patients, the test comes with various limitations, which make it unreliable and inappropriate for monitoring glycaemic control(Goldstein *et al.*, 2004). Some of these include, haemoglobin variants (HbS, HbC,HbD), drugs, anemia, uremia, alcoholism and dialysis.Limitations resulting from most inherent assay methods also compromise the clinical utility of the HbA1c maker(Calisti *et al.*, 2005). The characteristics of GA and HbA1c in a cross-section of diabetic patients have not been compared in Ghana.

There is therefore the need to conduct such a study in Ghana, which will add to existing database on diabetes by providing baseline information. The study will assess the ability of Glycated Albumin to better demonstrate glycaemic control and management. It will also determine which factors may be associated with these levels in the Ghanaian population.

1.5 Expected Benefits

Success in proving our hypothesis will help reduce cost incurred by patients on HbA1c analysis, better detect changes in glycaemic control and thus early prevention of the onset of complications. It will also identify factors, which may affect the levels of

Glycated Albumin among the Ghanaian population, hence, the better interpretation in the use of the marker in management.

1.6 Aim

The aim of the study was to validate the use of Glycated Hemoglobin and Glycated Albumin, as biomarkers of glycaemic control among Ghanaian diabetic patients.

1.6.1 Specific objectives

- To compare Glycated Hemoglobin and Glycated Albumin as biomarkers of glycaemic control.
- To determine the effects of anthropometric variables on Glycated Albumin levels
- To determine the relationship between Glycated Albumin and dyslipidemia in diabetics.
- To determine the relationship between glycaemic control and complications associated with Diabetes Mellitus

CHAPTER 2

LITERETURE REVIEW

2.0 Diabetes

Diabetes mellitus is a disorder of insulin deficiency or resistance that is characterized by hyperglycaemia and is associated with imbalance in carbohydrate, protein, and fat metabolism(Davis & Lewis, 1991). Diabetes is a chronic non-communicable debilitating disease that requires life-long treatment and greatly increases the risk of serious, longterm complications namely blindness, kidney disease, and neural, vascular damage leading to foot ulcers (World Health Organization, 2006) which may require amputation and also increase the tendency to heart attack, stroke and early death (Motala, 2010). Neuropathy (nerve damage) can also be caused by diabetes in which the individual or patient experiences numbress or weakness in the hands or feet and the development of foot ulcers, which may eventually lead to limb amputation.

Overall, death risk among people with diabetes is twice as that of people of the same age who do not have diabetes (Langat, 2011).

According to the World Health Organization (WHO) the current diagnostic criteria for diabetes are: 1) plasma glucose concentration measured after an overnight fast above 7.0mmol/l and/or 2) plasma glucose concentration measured two hours after a 75g oral glucose load above 11.0mmol/l (Gavin III *et al.*, 1997).

There are two main types that have been diagnosed in patients globally namely Type 1 diabetes and Type 2 diabetes. Diabetes happens when the pancreas does not produce adequate insulin, or when the body is not able to effectively use the insulin it produces.

Diabetes mellitus (Type 1 diabetes) also known as insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus or juvenile-onset diabetes results from autoimmune mediated destruction of the beta cells of the pancreas (Norris *et al.*, 2001). Blood glucose must be regulated with insulin treatment in combination with a balanced diet and physical exercise. If the level of glucose falls too low, hypoglycaemia can lead to unconsciousness. If the blood glucose level remains too high (hyperglycaemia), the body breaks down fat reserves instead of glucose as an energy source, giving rise to the release of toxic ketones and acids (ketoacidosis), which can lead to coma and death. At present, there is no way of preventing type 1 diabetes, and people diagnosed with it must receive insulin treatment for life. Insulin resistance often also precedes type 2 diabetes: the body produces insulin but the tissue cells do not respond fully; more and more insulin is produced until insulin production fails and blood glucose rises (Preeth *et al.*, 2014).

6

Type 2 diabetes also known as non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus or adult-onset diabetes is characterized by resistance to the action of insulin and disorder of insulin secretion, either of which may be the predominant feature (Preeth *et al.*, 2014). Type 2 diabetes can be controlled through a balanced diet and exercise plus (usually at a later stage) oral anti-diabetic drugs. Insulin is also increasingly used to treat type 2 diabetes, and evidence is increasing that early insulin treatment has a significant effect in delaying or preventing complications (Turner *et al.*, 1998). One particular form – ketosis-prone atypical diabetes – is mainly found in people of African origin. It involves severe hyperglycaemia and ketoacidosis but can be controlled with insulin treatment (Mbanya *et al.*, 2010). Type 2 diabetes, which is the most common type, is often a result of excess body weight and physical inactivity in genetically predisposed individuals (Shojania *et al.*, 2006).

Gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) which is another type found in only women comes as result of pregnancy. It is a form of glucose intolerance diagnosed during the second or third trimester of pregnancy. Mothers with GDM and their babies are at risk of developing types 2 diabetes mellitus if proper care is not ensured (Calisti & Tognetti, 2005; Clausen *et al.*, 2008). GDM is known to be increasing in prevalence. Recent reports indicates that it affects 3-15% of pregnancies worldwide(Kapur, 2011)

Type 2 diabetes accounts for over 90% of diabetes cases in Sub-Saharan Africa (Levitt, 2008), whilst Type 1 diabetes, gestational diabetes, and variant forms such as atypical 'ketosis-prone' diabetes and malnutrition-related diabetes constitute the remainder.

Prediabetes is a condition in which a person's blood glucose levels are higher than normal but not high enough for a diagnosis of type 2 diabetes. Many people destined to develop type 2 DM spend many years in a state of prediabetes which has been termed "America's largest healthcare epidemic (Wild *et al.*, 2004). Latent autoimmune diabetes of adults (LADA) is a condition in which type 1 DM develops in adults. Adults with LADA are frequently initially misdiagnosed as having type 2 DM, based on age rather than etiology(Balkau *et al.*, 2002).

Some cases of diabetes are caused by the body's tissue receptors not responding to insulin (even when insulin levels are normal, which is what separates it from type 2 diabetes); this form is very uncommon. Genetic mutations (autosomal or

mitochondrial) can lead to defects in beta cell function. Abnormal insulin action may also have been genetically determined in some cases. Any disease that causes extensive damage to the pancreas may lead to diabetes (for example, chronic pancreatitis and cystic fibrosis). Diseases associated with excessive secretion of insulin-antagonistic hormones can cause diabetes (which is typically resolved once the hormone excess is removed). Many drugs impair insulin secretion and some toxins damage pancreatic beta cells (Alberti & Zimmet, 1998).

Feature	Type 1 diabetes	Type 2 diabetes
Onset	Sudden	Gradual
Age at onset	Mostly in children	Mostly in adults
Body habitus	Thin or normal	Often obese
Ketoacidosis	Common	Rare
Autoantibodies	Usually present	Absent
Endogenous insulin	Low or absent	Normal, decreased or increased
Concordance in identical twins	50%	90%
Prevalence	~10%	~90%

Table 21: Comparison of Type 1 And 2 Diabetes

2.1 Signs and Symptoms



Figure 2.1: Signs and symptoms of Diabetes(Williams textbook of endocrinology, 2000)

The classic symptoms of untreated diabetes are loss of weight, polyuria (frequent urination), polydipsia (increased thirst), and polyphagia (increased hunger). Symptoms may develop rapidly (weeks or months) in type 1 diabetes, while they usually develop much more slowly and may be subtle or absent in type 2 diabetes (Cooke, 2008).

Prolonged high blood glucose can cause glucose absorption in the lens of the eye, which leads to changes in its shape, resulting in vision changes. Blurred vision is a common complaint leading to a diabetes diagnosis. A number of skin rashes that can occur in diabetes are collectively known as diabetic dermatomes (Pickup, 2004).

2.2 Causes of Diabetes

The cause of diabetes depends on the type.

2.2.1 Type 1

Type 1 diabetes was previously called insulin dependent diabetes mellitus or juvenileonset diabetes. Although the disease onset can occur at any age, the peak age for diagnosis is in the mid-teens (Cooke, 2008). This condition is partly inherited, and in genetically susceptible people, the onset of diabetes can be triggered by one or more environmental factors, such as a viral infection (Coxsackie B4 virus) or diet. Type 1 diabetes develops when the cells that produce the hormone insulin, known as the beta cells, in the pancreas are destroyed. This destruction is initiated or mediated by the body's immune system and limits or completely eliminates the production and secretion of insulin, the hormone that is required to lower blood glucose levels (McLarty *et al.*, 1990; Goldstein *et al.*, 2004).

To survive, people with type 1 diabetes must have insulin delivered by injection or a pump. In adults, type 1 diabetes accounts for approximately 5% of all diagnosed cases of diabetes (Motala, 2010). There is no known way to prevent type 1 diabetes. Several clinical trials for preventing type 1 diabetes are currently in progress with additional studies being planned. Unlike type 2 diabetes, the onset of type 1 diabetes is unrelated to lifestyle. Type 1 diabetes can be accompanied by irregular and unpredictable hyperglycemia, frequently with ketosis, and sometimes with serious hypoglycemia (Levitt, 2008). Other complications include an impaired counter regulatory response to hypoglycemia, infection, gastro paresis (which leads to erratic absorption of dietary carbohydrates), and endocrinopathies (e.g., Addison's disease). These phenomena are believed to occur no more frequently than in 1% to 2% of persons with type 1 diabetes (Levitt, 2008; Clausen *et al.*, 2008).

2.2.2 Type 2

Type 2 diabetes was previously called non–insulin dependent diabetes mellitus or adultonset diabetes because the peak age of onset is usually later than type 1 diabetes. In adults, type 2 diabetes accounts for about 90% to 95% of all diagnosed cases of diabetes. Type 2 diabetes usually begins with insulin resistance, a disorder in which the cells primarily within the muscles, liver, and fat tissue do not use insulin properly (Cooke, 2008).

As the need for insulin rises, the beta cells in the pancreas gradually lose the ability to produce sufficient quantities of the hormone. The role of insulin resistance as opposed to beta cell dysfunction differs among individuals, with some having primarily insulin resistance and only a minor defect in insulin secretion, and others with slight insulin resistance and primarily a lack of insulin secretion (Stratton *et al.*, 2000; Goldstein *et al.*, 2004).

The risk for developing type 2 diabetes is associated with older age, obesity, family history of diabetes, and history of gestational diabetes, impaired glucose metabolism, physical inactivity, and race/ethnicity. Excess body fat is associated with 30% of cases in those of Chinese and Japanese descent, 60-80% of cases in those of European and African descent, and 100% of Pima Indians and Pacific Islanders. Those who are not obese often have a high waist-hip ratio (Kuzuya & Matsuda, 1997).

Dietary factors also influence the risk of developing type 2 diabetes. Consumption of sugar-sweetened drinks in excess is associated with an increased risk (Malik *et al.*, 2010). The type of fats in the diet is also important, with saturated fats and trans fatty acids increasing the risk and polyunsaturated and monounsaturated fat decreasing the risk (Risérus *et al.*, 2009). Eating lots of white rice appears to also play a role in

increasing risk and lack of exercise is believed to cause 7% of cases (Hu & Stampfer, 2003; Lee *et al.*, 2003).

2.3 Diagnosis of Diabetes Mellitus

The clinical diagnosis of diabetes mellitus is often prompted by symptoms such as polyuria, polydipsia, recurrent infections, unexplained weight loss, and in severe cases, drowsiness and coma (Umpierrez *et al.*, 1997). High levels of glycosuria are usually present. A single random (casual) blood glucose estimation in excess of the diagnostic values (venous plasma \geq 11.1 mmol/L, venous whole blood \geq 10.0 mmol/L) establishes the diagnosis in such cases. The report also defines levels of random blood glucose below which a diagnosis of diabetes mellitus is unlikely in non-pregnant individuals (venous plasma <5.5 mmol/L, venous whole blood <4.4 mmol/L) (American Diabetes Association, 2005).

For clinical purposes, an oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) to establish diagnostic status needs only be considered if casual blood glucose values lie in the uncertain range, that is, between the levels that establish or exclude diabetes mellitus (venous plasma ≥ 5.5 and <11.1 mmol/L, venous whole blood ≥ 4.4 and <10.0 mmol/L) and fasting blood glucose levels are below those which establish the diagnosis of diabetes mellitus but above the upper reference limit. If an OGTT is performed, it is sufficient to measure the blood glucose values whilst fasting and at 2 hours after a 75g oral glucose load. For children the oral glucose load is related to body weight: 1.75g per kg (Alberti *et al.*, 1998; W.H.O, 2006; ADA, 2006).

The values of Impaired Fasting Glycaemia (IFG) are a fasting venous plasma glucose concentration of 6.1 mmol/L or greater (venous whole blood 5.6 mmol/L), but less than 7.0 mmol/L (venous whole blood 6.1 mmol/L); and if a 2-hour post glucose is measured,

a fasting venous plasma glucose concentration of less than 7.8 mmol/L (venous whole blood 6.7 mmol/L) (Alberti, 1996).

The values for Impaired Glucose Tolerance (IGT) are a fasting venous plasma 2-hour post glucose concentration of 7.8 mmol/L or greater (venous whole blood 6.7 mmol/L), but less than 11.1mmol/L (venous whole blood 10.0 mmol/L); and if a fasting glucose is measured, a fasting venous plasma glucose concentration of less than 7.0 mmol/L (venous whole blood 6.1 mmol/L)(Alberti, 1996).However, for clinical purposes, the diagnosis of diabetes mellitus should always be confirmed by repeating the test on another day unless there is unequivocal hyperglycaemia with acute metabolic decompensation or obvious symptoms as recommended by the expect committee (Alberti, 1996; Mberti, 1998).

Glucose concentrations should not be determined on serum, unless red cells are immediately removed, otherwise glycolysis will result in an unpredictable under estimation of the true concentrations. Glucose preservatives do not totally prevent glycolysis. Thus, if whole blood is used, the sample should be kept at 0 - 4 ⁰C, or assayed immediately. If plasma is used, the blood sample should be centrifuged immediately (Alberti *et al.*, 1998).

An alternative to blood glucose estimation or the OGTT has long been sought to simplify the diagnosis of diabetes mellitus. Glycated haemoglobin (HbA1C) reflecting average glycaemia over the preceding 2–3 months was thought to provide such a test. Although in certain cases it gives equal or almost equal sensitivity and specificity to glucose measurement (McCance *et al.*, 1994), it is not available in many parts of the world and is not well enough standardized for its use to be recommended now. However HbA1C is currently considered the best index of metabolic control for diabetic patients in clinical settings (Goldstein *et al.*, 2004; Nathan *et al.*, 2005) and participants in

epidemiological studies as well as a measure of risk for the development of micro- and macrovascular complications. For population studies of glucose intolerance and diabetes, individuals have been classified by their blood glucose concentration measured after an overnight fast and/or 2 hours after a 75g oral glucose load. Since, it may be difficult to be sure of the fasting state, and because of the strong correlation between fasting and 2-hour values, epidemiological studies or diagnostic screening have in the past been restricted to the 2-hour values only. Whilst this remains the single best choice, if it is not possible to perform the OGTT (e.g. for logistical or economic reasons), the fasting plasma glucose alone may be used for epidemiological purposes (Alberti *et al.*, 1998; Crowther *et al.*, 2005; Krolewski *et al.*, 2014).

To determine if gestational diabetes mellitus is present in pregnant women, a standard OGTT should be performed after overnight fasting (12 – 14 hours) by giving 75g anhydrous glucose in 250-300ml water. Plasma glucose is measured at fasting and 2 hours after glucose intake. Pregnant women who meet the WHO criteria for diabetes mellitus or IGT are classified as having gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM). After the pregnancy ends, the woman should be reclassified as either having diabetes mellitus, or IGT, or normal glucose tolerance based on the results of a 75g OGTT six weeks or more after delivery (Alberti *et al.*, 1998; Kim *et al.*, 2002).

2.4 Glycated Hemoglobin

Epidemiological studies have confirmed that hyperglycaemia is the most important factor in onset and progress of diabetes complications, both in T1DM and type T2DM. Mechanisms connecting hyperglycaemia with long term complications of diabetes have been investigated. Among others, a large number of useful proofs indicated the involvement of non-enzymatic glycation processes (Lyons & Jenkins, 1997). Nonenzymatic glycation is the process by which glucose is chemically bound to amino

groups of amino acids of proteins. It occurs by a series of chemical reactions described by a chemist Maillard (1912). Maillard reactions are complex and multilayer and can be analyzed in three degrees. The first reaction is a classical covalent reaction in which, by means of N-glycoside bonding, a sugar-protein complex is formed (Amadori rearrangement). It is an early product of non-enzymatic glycation, an intermediate which is a precursor of all later compounds. The second degree includes the formation of numerous intermediary products among which some are very reactive and further continue with glycation reactions. The third, final phase consists of a complex polymerization reaction of the second stage products, in the process of which heterogeneous structures called advanced glycation end products (AGEs) are formed (Vlassara *et al.*, 1994; Singh *et al.*, 2001).

It was believed that the primary mechanism in Maillard reactions was exclusively the pathway that originated from high glucose concentration. However, recent data show that, in spite of the fact that sugars are the main precursors of AGE compounds, numerous intermediary metabolites, i.e. α -oxoaldehydes also creatively participate in nonenzymatic glycation reactions. Such intermediary products are generated during glycolysis (methylglyoxal) or lipid peroxidation (Lyons *et al.*, 1997) and they can also be formed by auto-oxidation of carbohydrates (glyoxal).

Another route is the polyolic pathway by which glucose is metabolized through sorbitol, then fructose to α -oxoaldehydes. Alpha-oxoaldehydes modify AGEs surprisingly fast, in contrast to classical Maillard reactions which are very slow.

A classic example of non-enzymatic glycation is the formation of glycated haemoglobin (GHb), also commonly referred to as glycosylated haemoglobin, glycohaemoglobin, HbA1C, HbA1, or A1C. Glycated haemoglobin is a term used to describe a series of stable minor haemoglobin components formed slowly and non-enzymatically from

haemoglobin and glucose. HbA1C has been the first studied glycated protein, but it was soon discovered that other structural and regulatory proteins are also subject to nonenzymatic glycation, forming glycation end-products. The initial step in the reaction is the condensation of a free primary amine on haemoglobin with the carbony1 of the glucose, resulting in the formation of a Schiff base, that is, early Maillard reaction. This Schiff base is not stable and may either dissociate or undergo an Amadori rearrangement to form a stable ketoamine. There is now considerable evidence for an Amadori-type rearrangement of the adduct glucose with the NH2-terminal valine of the β -chain (HbA1C) as well as the NH2-terminal valine of the α -chain and for ε -amino groups of certain lysine residues on α - and β -chains. Since haemoglobin circulates in each erythrocyte for about 120 days, there is some opportunity in this cell for late Maillard reactions or nonenzymatic reactions to occur (the products of these reactions are referred to as advanced glycation end products [AGEs]), and the extent of these changes appears to correlate with GHb values (Makita *et al.*, 1992). In the formation of AGEs, the

Amadori product is degraded into deoxyglucosones, which react again with free amino groups to form other products (Angyal, 1979). The rate of formation of GHb is directly proportional to the ambient glucose concentration. Glycation has both physiological and pathophysiological significance in tissues that are longer lived (connective tissue, vascular endothelium, etc.). In physiological conditions glycation can be detected in the ageing process (Vlassara *et al.*, 1994), and the reactions are significantly faster and more intensive with frequently increased glucose concentrations.

In diabetology, the importance of these processes is manifest in two essential issues:

1. Effect of protein glycation on changes in their structure and function and 2. Use of glycated protein levels as a parameter of integrated glycaemic control (Bucala & Cerami, 1992; Brownlee, 2000).

GHb most accurately reflects the previous 2–3 months of glycaemic control. However, recent (i.e. 3-4 weeks earlier) plasma glucose levels contribute considerably more (50%) to the level of HbA1C (Tahara & Shima, 1993) than do long-past (i.e., 3-4 months earlier) plasma glucose levels (10%). Measurements of glycated proteins, primarily haemoglobin and serum proteins, have added a new dimension to the assessment of glycaemia. Blood and urine glucose and urine ketone tests cannot provide the patient and health care team with an objective measure of glycaemia over an extended period of time. However, with a single measurement, glycated proteins can quantify average glycaemia over weeks and months, thereby complementing day-today testing (Singer et al., 1989) of blood and urine glucose and urine ketones. It also provides an additional advantage because GHb values are free of day-to-day glucose fluctuations and are unaffected by exercise or recent food ingestion. HbA1C is currently considered the best index of metabolic control for diabetic patients in clinical settings (Nathan et al., 1984; Goldstein, 1984) and participants in epidemiological studies. Routine use of GHb testing in all patients with diabetes mellitus is recommended by the American Diabetes Association (2004), first to document the degree of glycaemic control at initial assessment, then as part of continuing care. GHb is also used as a measure of risk for the development of micro- and macrovascular diabetic complications (Moss et al., 1994; Krolewski et al., 1995). The test is also being used increasingly by quality assurance programs including the American Diabetes Association to assess the quality of diabetes care (Davidson, 1998). HbA1C

concentration is also related to prevalent coronary disease or carotid intimal thickening in non-diabetic individuals (Vitelli *et al.*, 1997).

HbA1C has been suggested as a diagnostic and screening tool for diabetes mellitus in the general population (Rohlfing *et al.*, 2000). In acutely ill patients with random hyperglycaemia at hospital admission, an HbA1C level >6.0% reliably diagnoses diabetes mellitus, and an HbA1C level <5.2% reliably excludes it (Greci *et al.*, 2003). It has been suggested that, in diabetic patients, management plan should be adjusted to achieve normal or near normal glycaemia with an HbA1C goal of <7% (Lawson *et al.*, 1999; Stratton *et al.*, 2000).

2.5 Glycated Albumin

Glycated albumin (GA) is known to reflect short-term glycaemic levels, and could be a useful therapeutics monitor in DM because the half-life of albumin (17 days) is shorter than that of erythrocytes (28 days) (Yamada *et al.*, 2008). Several studies (Guthrow *et al.*, 1979; Koga *et al.*, 2010) have shown that GA is a more reliable DM monitor and a better marker of glycaemic control than is HbA1c in patients undergoing hemodialysis and in patients with fluctuating and poorly controlled type 2 DM. Moreover, serum GA is not affected by factors that affect haemoglobin metabolism (Suwa *et al.*, 2010). The International Expert Committee (IEC) recently proposed a new diagnostic criteria based on measurement of HbA1c (Kilpatrick *et al.*, 2009). However, little attention has been paid to the utility of GA estimation compared with that of HbA1c in the diagnosis of DM. The GA assay is not widely available and is not standardized; thus, there is only very limited data to suggest that it would be useful as a diagnostic tool. In this study, our aim was to establish the validity of GA as a measure of glycaemic control and to evaluate its utility as a diagnostic tool for DM in a community-based.

Measurements of glycated haemoglobin (HbA1C) and glycated albumin (GA) have been used clinically to monitor glycaemic control in patients with diabetes. A1C represents an integrated measurement of blood glucose during the preceding 2 months while serum GA, a shorter-term marker, reflects glycaemic control over approximately the preceding 2 weeks (Guthrow *et al.*, 1979; Shima *et al.*, 1988).

GA is not influenced by a number of physiologic and pathologic conditions that affect HbA1C levels, such as anemia and genetic haemoglobin abnormalities (Bry *et al.*, 2001).Unfortunately, there may also be interferences with the GA assay. While HbA1c measurement is affected by reduced erythrocyte survival or an increase in young erythrocytes (e.g., during treatment with erythropoietin stimulating agents), GA can be influenced by factors that affect albumin turnover (Koga *et al.*, 2007; Miyashita *et al.*, 2007). Because the majority of patients with advanced nephropathy have overt proteinuria, GA values may also be affected in these patients. One study has shown this to be the case; there was a significant decrease in GA values independent of glycaemic state in diabetic patients with nephritic syndrome, while non-nephrotic range proteinuria did not significantly influence GA(Okada *et al.*, 2011).

Since the half-life of serum albumin is around 2 weeks, shorter than that of erythrocytes, GA reflects shorter terms of glycaemic control than HbA1c (Tahara *et al.*, 1993). Reflecting such characteristics, it has been recently shown that changes in GA can predict change in HbA1c after diabetes treatment (Okada *et al.*, 2011; Won *et al.*, 2012).In addition, there have been accumulating evidences that HbA1c mainly reflects mean plasma glucose levels while GA also reflects plasma glucose excursions and/or postprandial glucose levels better than HbA1c (Cohen, 1988; Ogawa *et al.*, 2012).

2.6 Complications of Diabetes Mellitus

All forms of diabetes increase the risk of long-term complications. These typically develop after many years (10–20), but may be the first symptom in those who have otherwise not received a diagnosis before that time.

The major long-term complications relate to damage to blood vessels. Diabetes doubles the risk of cardiovascular disease and about 75% of deaths in diabetics are due to coronary artery disease (Sarwar *et al.*, 2010; O'Gara *et al.*, 2013). Other "macrovascular" diseases are stroke, and peripheral vascular disease.

The primary microvascular complications of diabetes include damage to the eyes, kidneys, and nerves. Damage to the eyes, known as diabetic retinopathy, is caused by damage to the blood vessels in the retina of the eye, and can result in gradual vision loss and potentially blindness Damage to the kidneys, known as diabetic nephropathy, can lead to tissue scarring, urine protein loss, and eventually chronic kidney disease, sometimes requiring dialysis or kidney transplant. Damage to the nerves of the body, known as diabetic neuropathy, is the most common complication of diabetes (Christensen *et al.*, 2009). The symptoms can include numbness, tingling, pain, and altered pain sensation, which can lead to damage to the skin. Diabetes-related foot problems (such as diabetic foot ulcers) may occur, and can be difficult to treat, occasionally requiring amputation. Additionally, proximal diabetic neuropathy causes painful muscle wasting and weakness.

There is a link between cognitive deficit and diabetes. Compared to those without diabetes, those with the disease have a 1.2 to 1.5-fold greater rate of decline in cognitive function (Cukierman *et al.*, 2005).

2.7 Metabolic effects of Insulin and Diabetes Mellitus

Insulin is the principal hormone responsible for the control of glucose metabolism. It is synthesized by the β -cells of the islets of Langerhans of the pancreas as a precursor, pro-insulin, which is processed to form C-peptide and insulin. Both are secreted in equimolar amounts into the portal circulation (Domanski & Proschan, 2004). The mature insulin molecule comprises two polypeptide chains, the A chain and the B chain (21 and 30 amino acids respectively). The two chains are linked together by two interchain disulphide bridges (A7 to B7 and A20 to B19). There is also an intra-chain disulphide bridge in the A chain (connects residues 6 and 11). Secretion of insulin is mainly controlled by plasma glucose concentration and the hormone has a number of important metabolic actions. Its first principal function is to control the uptake and utilization of glucose in peripheral tissues via the glucose transporter. This and other hypoglycaemic activities, such as the inhibition of hepatic gluconeogenesis and glycogenolysis are counteracted by the hyperglycaemic hormones including glucagon, epinephrine (adrenaline) growth hormone, thyroxine and cortisol(Kahn, 2003). Insulin concentrations are severely reduced in type 1 diabetes mellitus and some other conditions such as hypopituitarism. Insulin levels are relatively raised in type 2 diabetes mellitus, obesity, insulinoma and some endocrine dysfunctions such as Cushing's syndrome and acromegaly. Insulin signaling at the target tissue results in a large array of biological outcomes. These events are essential for normal growth and development and for normal homeostasis of carbohydrate, lipid and protein metabolism. Elucidating the intracellular events after activation of the insulin receptor (IR) has been the primary focus of a large number of investigators for decades, and for excellent reasons. Numerous prospective studies in various populations indicate that insulin resistance and insulin secretory dysfunction predict the development of type 2 diabetes (Ferrannini,

21

1998; Weyer *et al.*, 2001)and are therefore targets for primary prevention of the disease. Understanding the signaling pathways involved in insulin action could lead to a better understanding of the pathophysiology of insulin resistance associated with type 2 diabetes mellitus and obesity. Identifying associated key molecules and processes could lead to newer and more effective therapeutic agents for treating these common disorders.

2.8 Metabolic Complications of Diabetes Mellitus

Diabetic ketoacidosis (DKA) and hyperosmolar hyperglycaemic state (HHS) are the two most serious acute metabolic complications of diabetes mellitus, even if managed properly. These disorders can occur in both type 1 and type 2 diabetes respectively. The mortality rate in patients with diabetic ketoacidosis is <5%, whereas the mortality rate of patients with hyperosmolar hyperglycaemic state (HHS) is about 15% (Hamblin *et al.*, 1989; Basu *et al.*, 1992). The prognosis of both conditions is substantially worsened at the extremes of age and in the presence of coma and hypotension (Malone *et al.*, 1992). DKA consists of the biochemical triad of hyperglycaemia, ketonaemia and acidaemia. The degree of hyperglycaemia in DKA is quite variable and may not be a determinant of the severity of DKA. In HHS there is more severe hyperglycaemia and hyperosmolality than DKA. HHS may consist of variable degrees of clinical ketosis as determined by the nitroprusside method and may often present without coma. Serum osmolality has been shown to correlate significantly with mental status in DKA and HHS (Ennis *et al.*, 1994; Umpierrez *et al.*, 1997).

Although the pathogenesis of DKA is better understood than that of HHS, the basic underlying mechanism for both disorders is a reduction in the net effective concentration of circulating insulin (Polonsky *et al.*, 1994), coupled with concomitant elevation of counter regulatory stress hormones, such as glucagon, epinephrine

22

(adrenaline), growth hormone, thyroxine and cortisol. Thus DKA and HHS are extreme manifestations of impaired carbohydrate regulation that can occur in diabetes mellitus (Umpierrez *et al.*, 1997) Although many patients manifest overlapping metabolic clinical pictures, each condition can also occur in relatively pure form. In patients with DKA, the deficiency in insulin can be absolute, or it can be insufficient relative to an excess of counter regulatory hormones. In HHS, there is a residual amount of insulin secretion that minimizes ketosis but does not control hyperglycaemia. This leads to severe dehydration and impaired renal function leading to decreased excretion of glucose (Ennis *et al.*, 1994). These factors coupled with the presence of a stressful condition result in more severe hyperglycaemia than that seen in DKA. In addition, inadequate fluid intake contributes to severe hyperosmolality, the hallmark of HHS.

The most common precipitating factor in the development of DKA or HHS is infection (Basu *et al.*, 1992). The most common types of infections are pneumonia and urinary tract infections, accounting for 30-50% of cases.

Other acute medical illnesses which are precipitating causes include alcohol abuse, trauma, pulmonary embolism, myocardial infarction, and pancreatitis, which can occur both in type 1 and type 2 diabetes (Nathan *et al.*, 2005). Various drugs that alter carbohydrate metabolism, such as corticosteroids, pentamidine, sympathomimetic agents, and α - and β -adrenergic blockers, and excessive use of diuretics in the elderly may also precipitate the development of DKA and HHS.

Psychological factors and poor compliance, leading to omission of insulin therapy, are important precipitating factors for recurrent ketoacidosis. In young female patients with type 1 diabetes, psychological problems complicated by eating disorders may be contributing factors in up to 20% of cases of recurrent ketoacidosis (Polonsky *et al.*, 1994; Rydall *et al.*, 1997). Factors that may lead to insulin omission in younger patients
include fear of weight gain with good metabolic control, fear of hypoglycemia, rebellion against authority and stress related to chronic disease (Polonsky *et al.*, 1994). Non-compliance with insulin therapy has been found to be the leading precipitating cause for DKA in urban African-Americans and medically indigent patients (Musey *et al.*, 1995; Umpierrez *et al.*, 1997).

2.9 Lipid and Ketone Metabolism

The increased production of ketones in DKA is the result of a combination of insulin deficiency and increased concentrations of counter regulatory hormones, particularly epinephrine, which lead to the phosphorylation and activation of hormone-sensitive lipase in adipose tissue(McGarry, 1979; Jensen et al., 1989; Nurjhan et al., 1992). The increased activity of tissue lipase causes a breakdown of triglyceride into glycerol and free fatty acids (FFAs). Although glycerol is used as a substrate for gluconeogenesis in the liver and the kidney, the massive release of FFAs assumes pathophysiological predominance in the liver, where the FFAs serve as precursors of the ketoacids in DKA (McGarry, 1979; DeFronzo et al., 1994). In the liver, FFAs are oxidized to ketone bodies, a process predominantly stimulated by glucagon. Increased concentration of glucagon in DKA reduces the hepatic levels of malonyl-CoA by blocking the metabolism of pyruvate to acetylCoA through inhibition of acetyl-CoA carboxylase, the first rate-limiting enzyme in de novo fatty acid synthesis(Gerich et al., 1976; McGarry, 1979; Nurjhan et al., 1992) Malonyl-CoA inhibits carnitine acyl transferase I (CAT-I), the rate limiting enzyme for transesterification of fatty acyl-CoA to fatty acyl-carnitine, regulating oxidation of fatty acids to ketone bodies. CAT-I is required for movement of FFA into the mitochondria, where fatty acid oxidation takes place. The increased fatty acyl-CoA and CAT-I activity in DKA, lead to increased ketogenesis in DKA (McGarry et al., 1989; Zammit, 1994). In addition to increased production of ketone bodies, there is evidence that clearance of ketones is decreased in patients with DKA (Reichard *et al.*, 1986; Balasse & Fery, 1989). This decrease may be due to low insulin concentration, increased glucocorticoid level and decreased glucose utilization by peripheral tissues(Nosadini *et al.*, 1989). Epinephrine secretion by the adrenal medulla is markedly enhanced in DKA. In vitro, epinephrine has a marked effect to increase lipolysis in adipocytes. In vivo, epinephrine can increase plasma concentrations of FFAs, at least when insulin deficiency is present. In addition, epinephrine facilitates hepatic ketogenesis directly (Avagaro *et al.*, 1993). Norepinephine at concentrations that approximate those seen in the synaptic cleft stimulates lipolysis by adipocytes and enhances ketogenesis(Keller *et al.*, 1984).In addition to the individual effects of stress hormones, infusion of combinations of counter regulatory hormones has been observed to have synergistic effects when compared with those seen with single hormone infusions (Shamoon *et al.*, 1981).

The risks associated with the metabolic syndrome, as is currently conceived is 30-50% for diabetes, 12-17% for cardiovascular disease and about 6-7% for all-cause mortality (Ford, 2005). Beyond CVD and type 2 diabetes, individuals with metabolic syndrome seemingly are susceptible to other conditions, notably polycystic ovary syndrome, fatty liver, cholesterol gallstones, asthma, sleep disturbances and some forms of cancer. NCEP ATPIII (Grundy, 2002) identified 6 components of the metabolic syndrome that relate to CVD: Central (abdominal) obesity, atherogenic dyslipidemia, raised blood pressure, insulin resistance and glucose intolerance, pro-inflammatory state and prothrombotic state. Abdominal obesity is the form of obesity most strongly associated with the metabolic syndrome. It presents clinically as increased waist circumference. Atherogenic dyslipidemia manifests in routine lipoprotein analysis as raised triglycerides and low concentrations of HDL cholesterol (Rubins, 2000). A more

25

detailed analysis usually reveals other lipoprotein abnormalities, e.g. increased remnant lipoproteins, elevated apolipoprotein B, small LDL particles, and small HDL particles. All of these abnormalities have been implicated as being independently atherogenic. Elevated blood pressure strongly associates with obesity and commonly occurs in insulin resistant persons. Patients with longstanding insulin resistance frequently manifest glucose intolerance, another emerging risk factor. When glucose intolerance evolves into diabetes-level hyperglycemia, elevated glucose constitutes a major, independent risk factor for CVD (Grundy *et al.*, 2004; Ford, 2005).

CHAPTER 3

MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Study Site and Study Design

This case comparative study was conducted at the Diabetic Clinic of the Tema General Hospital, the Eye Clinic and the Chemical Pathology Department of the Tema General Hospital Laboratory. The Tema General Hospital is the main referral center within the Tema Metropolis; as such it provided adequate participants required for the study.

3.2 Study Population

A total of 200 participants were recruited for this study of which 150 were known and confirmed diabetics and 50 were healthy individuals attending the Hospital. The 150 diabetics consisted of: 79 diabetics without any complications, 41 with diabetic renal damage and 30 with diabetic retinopathy.

3.2.1 Sample Size Justification

The following formula was used:

 $t^2 \times P (1 - P)$

N=

m

Where;

N= sample size, t=confidence interval of 95% (standard value of 1.96), P= prevalence rate (6.4%), m=margin of error (standard value of 0.05). Hence N= 92 (minimum). A sample size of 200 was thus chosen for this study

2

3.2.2 Inclusion Criteria

Participants must be Ghanaians above the age of 18 years, and should have been diagnosed with type 2 diabetes mellitus and on medication (i.e. on insulin and/or diet with oral hypoglycaemic drugs), diagnosed using the WHO criteria. The controls included Ghanaian participants with normal glucose tolerance, assessed using WHO criteria, which involved an oral glucose tolerance test, with an absence of diabetes mellitus within first-degree relatives. Participants must be in good health, to qualify as controls, b) with Type 2 diabetes and with no complications, c) Type 2 diabetes with nephropathy d) Type 2 diabetes with retinopathy.

3.2.3 Exclusion Criteria

Non-Ghanaian diabetic patients, persons with type 1 diabetes, persons with recent or chronic conditions that could affect concentrations of inflammatory markers (eg. cancer), persons taking cholesterol-lowering medication, diabetic pregnant women who were not physiologically normal, acutely ill diabetic patients, too ill to be interviewed, or those with severe medical conditions were excluded from the study. Non Ghanaian control participants, non-diabetic control participants with diabetes within first degree relatives, abnormal glucose tolerance, and heavy smokers (more than one pack of cigarettes per day) were also excluded from the study.

3.3 Participant Recruitment

Recruitment was based on previous and current symptoms and test results as well as medication profile. Control recruitment was based on normal glucose tolerance and absence of diabetes within first-degree relatives.

3.4 Ethical Consideration

The research protocol was reviewed and approved by the Committee for Human Research, Publications and Ethics of KNUST (CHRPE/KNUST) and approval from the management of Tema General Hospital. The objectives and benefits of the study were explained to the diabetic patients, control or apparently healthy control subjects at the time of initial data collection, and verbal and written consent were obtained from them.

3.5 Data Collection

A standard questionnaire was used to collect information on socio-demographic and patient's profile such as age, sex, tribe, duration of diabetes, presence of other metabolic and infectious diseases and family history of common metabolic diseases. Others were current and previous medication, intake of pharmacological agents, such as drugs including contraceptives, tobacco and alcohol, and specific physiological states such as pregnancy, stress and excessive exercise. An additional profile for control or healthy control participants included presence of diabetes within first-degree relatives.

3.6 Anthropometric Measurement

For both diabetics and controls, body weight and height were measured using a standard physician's scale and standiometer, to the nearest 0.1 kg and 0.5 cm respectively, with participants in lightweight clothing without shoes and standing in an upright position. BMI was calculated as weight/height² (kg/m²). Waist circumference was measured with a plastic anthropometric tape on bare skin of standing subjects during mid-respiration

at the narrowest indentation midway between the lowest rib and the iliac crest and at the level of the umbilicus. It was measured to the nearest 0.1 cm. Duplicate measures were made and averages were used in the analysis.

3.7 Blood Sample Collection and Processing

About 5 ml of venous blood sample was collected from the antecubital fossa of the study participants after an overnight fast (10 – 12 hours). One milliliter (1 ml) of the blood sample was dispensed into fluoride oxalate tube. About 1 ml of the blood sample was dispensed into ethylene diamine tetraacetic acid (EDTA) tube and the other 3 ml into vacutainer plain tubes. Serum was stored at -20C after centrifugation at 500rpm for 15 minutes until assay was performed. Assay parameters included: fasting blood glucose (FBG), glycated hemoglobin and albumin, total protein, serum albumin, blood urea nitrogen (BUN), creatinine, sodium, potassium, total cholesterol (TC), triglycerides (TG), high density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol. Serum low density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol was estimated from the Friedewald equation (Friedewald *et al.*, 1972). The assay was performed on the biochemistry autoanalyzer, Roche COBAS Integra® 400 Plus System (Roche Diagnostics, Germany, West Berlin) with the system's respective reagent cassettes.

3.8 Assay Methods

3.8.1 Fasting Blood Glucose

Glucose concentration in the samples was estimated with the hexokinase method. Hexokinase (HK) phosphorylates glucose with ATP to produce glucose-6-phosphate, which was then oxidized by glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase to 6phosphogluconate with the simultaneous reduction of NAD⁺ to NADH. The resulting increase in absorbance at 340nm was directly related to the concentration of glucose in the sample.

$$Glucose + ATP \xrightarrow{HK} Glucose - 6 - phosphate + ADP$$

$$Glucose - 6 - phosphate + NAD^+ \xrightarrow{G6PDH} Phosphogluconate + NADH$$

3.8.2 Total Cholesterol

The method for this assay was based on that described by Trinder (1969). Cholesterol esterase hydrolyses esters to free cholesterol and fatty acids. The free cholesterol produced plus the preformed cholesterol are then oxidized in the presence of cholesterol oxidase to cholest-4-en-3-one and hydrogen peroxide. The quinoneimine chromogen, with absorption maximum at 500 nm, is produced when phenol is oxidatively coupled with 4-aminophenazone in the presence of peroxidase with hydrogen peroxide. The intensity of the final red colour was directly proportional to the total cholesterol concentration.

Cholesterol ester +
$$H_2O \xrightarrow{\text{cholesterol esterase}} Cholesterol + Fatty acids$$

Cholesterol + $O_2 \xrightarrow{\text{cholesteroloxidase}} Cholest - 4 - en - 3 - one + H_2O_2
 $H_2O_2 + 4 - aminophenazone + Phenol \xrightarrow{\text{peroxidase}} H_2O + Quinoneimine$$

3.8.3 Triglycerides

The method for this assay is based on a modified Trinder (Barham & Trinder, 1972) colour reaction to produce a fast linear endpoint reaction (McGowan *et al.*, 1983). Triglycerides in the sample are hydrolyzed by lipase to glycerol and fatty acids. Glycerol is then phosphorylated by adenosine-5-triphosphate (ATP) to glycerol-3phosphate and adenosine-5-diphosphate (ADP) in a reaction catalyzed by glycerol kinase. Glycerol-3-phosphate is then converted to dihydroxyacetone phosphate (DHAP) and hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) by glycerophosphate oxidase. The hydrogen peroxide the reacts with 4-aminoantipyrine and 3, 5 dichloro-2-hydroxybenzene (Chlorophenol) in a reaction catalyzed by peroxidase to yield a red coloured

quinoneimine dye. The intensity of the colour produced was directly proportional to the concentration of triglycerides in the sample.

 $\begin{aligned} Triglyceride + H_2O & \xrightarrow{lipase} Glycerol + Fatty \ acids \\ Glycerol + ATP & \xrightarrow{glycerol \ kinase} Glycerol - 3 - phosphate + ADP \\ Glycerol - 3 - phosphate & \xrightarrow{glycerolphosphate \ oxidase} DHAP + H_2O_2 \\ 2H_2O_2 + 4 - aminoantipyrine + chlorophenol & \xrightarrow{peroxidse} Quinoneimine \end{aligned}$

3.8.4 HDL Cholesterol

Low density lipoproteins (LDL and VLDL) and chylomicron fractions are precipitated quantitatively by the addition of phosphotungstic acid in the presence of Mg2+ ions. The cholesterol concentration in the HDL was then determined by the method described by Trinder for the assay of cholesterol.

3.8.5 LDL Cholesterol

The LDL-Cholesterol concentration (LDL-C) is calculated from the total cholesterol concentration (TC), HDL-Cholesterol concentration (HDL-C) and the triglycerides concentration (TG) according to Friedewald equation (Friedewald *et al.*, 1972).

 $LDL - Chlesterol (mmolL^{-1})$

 $+ 2H_2O_2$

 $= TC(mmolL^{-1}) - \frac{TG(mmolL^{-1})}{2.2} - HDL(mmolL^{-1})$

3.8.6 Serum Albumin (ALB)

The method used for this assay was based on that of Doumas *et al.* (1971)where at a controlled pH, bromocresol green (BCG) forms a coloured complex with albumin. The intensity of the colour at 630 nm was directly proportional to the albumin concentration.

$$BCG + Albumin \xrightarrow{controlled pH} gREEN \ bcg - Albumin \ Complex$$

3.8.7 Total protein (PRO)

The method was based on the modifications of Gornall *et al.* (1949). Protein in serum forms a blue coloured complex when reacted with cupric ions in an alkaline solution. The intensity of the violet colour was proportional to the concentration of proteins present when compared to a solution with known protein concentration.

Protein + $Cu^{2+} \xrightarrow{alkali}$ Coloured complex 3.8.8 Blood Urea Nitrogen (BUN)

The method for this assay was based on a modification of the Urease/Glutamate dehydrogenase (GLDH) method by Talke and Schubert (1965). Urea is hydrolyzed to ammonia (NH3) and carbon dioxide (CO2) in the presence of water and urease. The liberated ammonia reacts with α -ketoglutarate in the presence of NADH and Glutamate dehydrogenase to form L-Glutamate and NAD+. As the reaction proceeds, the absorbance at 340 nm decreases. The initial rate of this change was proportional to the concentration of urea in the sample.

$$Urea + H_2O \xrightarrow{urease} 2NH_3 + CO_2$$
$$NH_3 + \alpha - Ketoglutarate + NADH \xrightarrow{GLDH} L - Glutamate + NAD^+$$

3.8.9 Creatinine (CRE)

The method for this assay was based on the Jaffe (modified kinetic) method described by Fabiny and Ertingshausen (1971). Creatinine reacts with picric acid in alkaline conditions to form a colour complex which absorbs at 510 nm. The rate of formation of colour was proportional to the concentration of creatinine in the sample.

 $Creatinine + Sodium\ Picrate \xrightarrow{alkali} Creatinine - picrate\ complex$

3.9 Estimation of Glomerular Filtration Rate

This study assessed renal function in the diabetic patients using the Chronic Kidney

Disease Epidemiology Collaboration (CKD-EPI). Estimated GFR's were used to stratify the study population into the three stages of CKD based on the staging system of the Kidney Disease Outcomes Quality Initiative (K/DOQI) for CKD classification (National Kidney Foundation, 2002) where: Stage 1 (Kidney damage with normal or increased GFR) = GFR \ge 90 mL min-1 1.73 m-²; Stage 2 (Kidney damage with mildly decreased GFR) = 60-89 mL min-1 1.73 m-²; Stage 3 (Moderately decreased GFR) = 30-59 mL min-1 1.73 m-²; Stage 4 (Severely decreased GFR) = 15–29 mL min-1 1.73 m-² and Stage 5 (Kidney failure) = <15 mL min-1 1.73 m-²(Levey *et al.*, 2005).

3.10 Glycosylated Hemoglobin (HbA1c)

The A₁ fast fraction – cation exchange method was used to estimate the level of glycated hemoglobin of the participants. A haemolysed preparation of whole blood was mixed continuously for 5 minutes with a weak binding cation -exchange resin. During this time, HbA binds to the resin. The non-glycosylated haemoglobin binds to the resin leaving GHb free in the supernatant containing the glycosylated haemoglobin. After the mixing period, a filter was used to separate the supernatant containing the glycosylated haemoglobin from the resin.

The GHb percentage was determined by measuring the absorbance at 415 nm of the GHb fraction and the total Hb fraction. The ratio of the two absorbances gave the percentage of glycosylated haemoglobin (GHb).

The percent HbA1C in the sample was then calculated as follows:

% HbA_{1C} = $\frac{[HbA_{1C}]}{[Total Haemoglobin]} X 100$

3.11 Glycosylated Albumin (GA)

The kit used a double-antibody sandwich enzyme-linked immunosorbent one-step process assay (ELISA) to assay the human glycosylated albumin (GA) level in the samples.

Glycated Albumin (Human) ELISA was a direct non-radiolabel enzyme-linked immunoassay in which glycated albumin in human plasma binds to an immobilized monoclonal antibody that specifically recognizes the glycated moieties on human albumin (Day *et al.*, 1980; Cohen & Hud, 1989). After incubation for a fixed time, an enzyme-conjugated polyclonal antibody directed against human albumin was added. A chromogenic substrate was also added. After the reaction was stopped, the intensity of the color was read in an ELISA reader at 450 nm. The concentration of glycated albumin in the specimen sample was read from a calibration curve.

The amount of glycated albumin can be expressed as absolute concentration (mg/ml) or as a relative %, determined by the equation below;

The percent GA (%) in the sample was then calculated as follows:

% Glycated Albumin (GA) = $\frac{\text{Glycated Albumin}_{\text{sample}} X 100}{\text{Total albumin}_{\text{sample}} X}$

BADW

Where; a) Glycated Albumin is in mg Glycated Albumin /Ml

b) Total Albumin is in mg Albumin /mL

3.12 Diagnostic Criteria for Metabolic Syndrome

Metabolic syndrome in participants were diagnosed using the criteria recommended by the NCEP ATPIII, that is, the presence of three or more of the following risk factors: 1. Central obesity i.e. waist circumference in males >102 cm and females >88 cm, 2.

Hypertriglyceridemia i.e. triglyceride \geq 1.70 mmol/L, 3. Low HDL cholesterol i.e. HDL cholesterol in males <1.00 mmol/L and in females <1.30 mmol/L, 4. Hypertension i.e. blood pressure \geq 130/85 mmHg and/or on antihypertensive medication, and 5.

Hyperglycaemia i.e. a fasting glucose ≥ 6.1 mmol/L. All patients in this study were coded as positive for hyperglycaemia (i.e. glucose ≥ 6.1 mmol/L).

3.13 Glycemic Control

Glycated haemoglobin and glycated albumin were classified as Excellent for HbA1C \leq 6 and GA \leq 18; Good for 6 < HbA1C \leq 7and 18 < GA \leq 21, Fair for 7 < HbA1C \leq 8 and 21 < GA \leq 24; and Poor control as HbA1C > 8 and GA > 24.

3.14 Statistical Analysis

Results were expressed as mean \pm S.D. except where otherwise stated. Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS version 20.0 (SPSS Inc.) and Graph Pad prism 5 for Windows. Normal distribution and homogeneity of the variances were tested using Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Levène tests, respectively. Student t-test was used to compare the significance of the difference in the mean values of any two groups and chi-square analysis was used to compare frequency between the two groups. Linear regression analysis was used to study the association between the parameters. Correlations between parameters were analyzed using the Pearson R test for variables with normal distribution and the Spearman test for variables with non-normal distribution. P<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

WJ SANE NO

CHAPTER 4

RESULTS

4.1 Demographics, clinical characteristics and measures of Anthropometry

This case comparative study was conducted at the Diabetic Clinic of the Tema General Hospital where 200 participants were recruited: 150 diabetic patients (participants) and 50 non-diabetics (control).

Table 4.1 presents the baseline characteristics of the participants. The mean ages of the diabetic patients and the non-diabetics were 58.39 ± 12.76 and 54.88 ± 17.90 respectively. Furthermore, majority of the diabetic patients, 28% (42), were in their 6th decade of life however most of the non-diabetics were in their 5thdecade of life, 32.0% (16). Assessments of obesity using Waist circumference and waist-to-hip ratio were significantly (*P*<0.0001) higher in the diabetics than the non-diabetics. BMI comparison among the diabetics and the non-diabetics showed no mean significant differences, however, overweight (38.7%) and obesity (35.3%) was more prevalent in the diabetics. Waist to hip ratio (WHR) was significantly higher in the controls compared to the cases where as the Waist circumference was significantly higher among the cases compared to the controls (Table 4.1).

mong study participants			
Variable	Cases	Controls	P-value
1 W	(n = 150)	(n = 50)	
Age (Mean ± SD)	58.39 ± 12.76	54.88 ± 17.90	0.132
Gender n (%)			< 0.0001
Male	58 (38.7)	36 (72.0)	
Female	92 (61.3)	14 (28.0)	
Age group in years n (%)			0.230
<30	3 (2.0)	5 (10.0)	
30-39	10 (6.7)	7 (14.0)	

 Table 4.1: Demographics, clinical characteristics and measures of Anthropometry among study participants

40-49	25 (16.7)	8 (16.0)	
50-59	39 (26.0)	16 (32.0)	
60-69	42 (28.0)	7 (14.0)	
70-79	26 (17.3)	4 (8.0)	
≥ 80	5 (3.3)	3 (6.0)	
Marital status n (%)			0.001
Single	27 (18.1)	18 (36.0)	
Married	90 (60.4)	32 (64.0)	
Divorced	4 (2.7)	0 (0.0)	
Widowed	28 (18.8)	0 (0.0)	
Occupation n (%)		\mathbf{J}	0.022
None	50 (33.3)	7 (14.0)	
Informal	72 (48.0)	28 (56.0)	
Formal	28 (18.7)	15 (30.0)	
Educational status n (%)	NO M		0.066
None	21 (14.0)	15 (30.0)	
Basic	62 (41.3)	17 (34.0)	
Secondary	45 (30.0)	14 (28.0)	
Tertiary	22 (14.7)	4 (8.0)	
Sickling Status			0.074
Negative	118 (78.7)	45 (90.0)	
Positive	32 (21.3)	5 (10.0)	
WC (cm)	92.20 ± 12.71	79.54 ± 11.31	< 0.0001
WHR	0.90 ± 0.07	0.96 ±0.02	< 0.0001
BMI n (Kg/m2)	28.63 ± 5.63	28.71 ± 5.08	0.927
BMI n (%)	Sec. Y	- AL	0.711
Underweight	5 (3.3)	0 (0.0)	
Normal	34 (22.7)	10 (20.0)	
Overweight	58 (38.7)	22 (44.0)	
Obese	53 (35.3)	18 (36.0)	

Values are Mean ±SD, Differences is significant at P<0.05, WC = Waist Circumference, WHR = Waist to Hop ratio, BMI = Body Mass Index, 4.2 Biochemical characteristics, dyslipidemia and measures of renal function

Table 4.2 shows the biochemical characteristics, dyslipidemia and measures of renal function among the diabetic patience and the non-diabetics. Results of blood glucose, Glycated hemoglobin, Glycated albumin, Glycated Albumin/HbA1c and serum albumin were significantly (P < 0.05) increased in the patients with diabetes compared to the non-diabetics. However, serum lipid profile although increased in the diabetics, was not statistically different between diabetics and non-diabetics as TC, TG, and LDL

were compared (P> 0.05). Renal assessment indicated significant elevations (P< 0.05) in levels of urea, creatinine and sodium with increased levels in the diabetic patients. The eGFR was however significantly (P<0.0001) reduced in the diabetics compared to the non-diabetics (Table 4.2)

Variable	Cases	Controls	P-value
	(n = 150)	(n = 50)	
FBG (mmol/l)	9.27 ± 3.88	$4.78\ \pm 0.63$	< 0.0001
HB(g/dl)	11.69 ± 1.69	12.54 ± 1.27	0.001
HBA1c (%)	7.43 ± 6.29	6.30 ± 0.95	< 0.0001
GA (%)	22.69 ± 4.31	16.33 ± 2.36	< 0.0001
GA/HBA1C ratio	3.07 ± 0.28	2.59 ± 0.35	<0.0001
Total protein (g/dL)	78.9 <mark>4</mark> ± 7.15	78.12 ± 6.22	0.467
Serum albumin (g/dL)	42.61 ± 4.92	40.07 ± 8.16	0.009
<i>Lipid profile</i> TC			
(mmol/L)	5.10 ± 1.26	4.76 ± 1.17	0.098
TG (mmol/L)	1.20 ± 0.50	1.07 ± 0.58	0.134
HDL-CHL (mmol/L)	1.40 ± 0.45	1.42 ± 0.38	0.711
LDL-CHL (mmol/L)	3.52 ± 1.25	3.15 ± 1.07	0.068
Renal function	$\equiv 1R$		17
Urea (mmol/L)	4.34 ± 1.20	3.69 ± 1.06	0.001
Creatinine (µmol/L)	92.64 ± 20.86	82.85 ± 18.42	0.003
Sodium (Na ⁺) (mmol/L)	137.14 ± 9.25	134.01 ± 10.45	0.046
Potassium (K ⁺) (mmol/L)	4.04 ±0.63	4.10 ± 0.37	0.506
eGFR, mL/min/1.73 m ²	79.96 ± 25.80	112.84 ± 26.25	< 0.0001

 Table 4 2: Biochemical characteristics, dyslipidemia and measures of renal function among the diabetic patience and the non-diabetics

FBG=Fasting Blood Glucose, HB=Haemoglobin, HbA1C=Glycated haemoglobin, GA=Glycated Albumin, TC=Total Cholesterol, TG=Triglycerides, HDL=High Density Lipoprotein, LDL=Low Density Lipoprotein

4.3 Age distribution, measure of Anthropometry, and prevalence of disease

complication

Presented in table 4.3 is age distribution, measure of Anthropometry, and prevalence of disease complication among diabetic patients. The mean ages of the diabetic male and female patients were 57.82 ± 14.49 and 58.74 ± 11.61 respectively. Waist circumference and waist-to-hip ratio were not significantly different (*P*>0.05) in the males compared to the females (Table 4.3). BMI was however significantly different

between genders, with overweight (58.6%) and obesity (75.5%) being more prevalent in the females than the male diabetics. Diabetic nephropathy and retinopathy were also more prevalent in the female diabetics (68.3%, 63.3% respectively) than the male diabetics (31.7%, 36.7% respectively) (Table 4.3).



Variable	Male	Female	P-value
	(n = 58)	(n = 92)	
Age (Mean ± SD)	57.82 ± 14.49	58.74 ± 11.61	0.672
Age group n (%)			0.347
<30	3 (100)	0 (0.0)	
30-39	4 (40.0)	6 (60.0)	6
40-49	8 (32.0)	17 (68.0)	
50-59	12 (30.8)	27 (69.2)	
60-69	18 (42.9)	24 (57.1)	
70-79	11 (42.3)	15 (57.7)	
≥ 80	2 (40.0)	3 (60.0)	
Sickling Status			0.331
Negative	48 (40.7)	70 (59.3)	
Positive	10 (31.2)	22 (68.8)	
<i>WC</i> (<i>cm</i>)	90.77 ± 11.70	93.10 ± 13.29	0.277
WHR	0.90 ± 0.07	0.90 ±0.07	0.688
BMI n (Kg/m2)	27.10 ± 5.12	29.59 ± 5.75	0.008
BMI n (%)			0.015
Underweight	1 (33.3)	2 (66.7)	
Normal	20 (58.8)	14 (41.2)	
Overweight	24 (41.4)	34 (58.6)	-
Obese	13 (24.5)	40 (75.5)	53
Disease complication	3-10	5137	0.467
None	34 (43.0)	45 (57.0)	7
Nephropathy	13 (31.7)	28 (68.3)	
Retinopathy	11 (36.7)	19 (63.3)	1

Table 4.3: Age distribution, measure of Anthropometry, and prevalence of disease complication among the diabetic patients stratified by gender

4.4 Glycemic indices, dyslipidemia and measures of renal function among the diabetic patients

Table 4.4 shows Glycemic indices, dyslipidemia and measures of renal function among the diabetic patients. Glycated haemoglobin and serum albumin were not significantly (P>0.05) different between the male and female diabetics (Table 4.4). However, Glycated albumin was significantly increased in the female diabetics. Serum lipid profile although increased in the female diabetics (with the exception of TG), showed no statistically significant difference between the genders as TC, TG, HDL and LDL were compared (P> 0.05). Renal assessment indicated no significant difference (P> 0.05) in levels of urea, creatinine, sodium and potassium. However, the estimated GFR was significantly (P<0.0001) reduced in the females compared to the male diabetics (Table 4.4)

Variable	Male	Female	P-value
	(n = 58)	(n = 92)	
FBG (mmol/l)	9.28 ± 4.55	9.26 ± 3.43	0.974
HB(g/dl)	11.98 ± 2.11	11.50 ± 1.33	0.089
HBA1c (%)	7.16 ± 1.36	7.60 ± 1.47	0.069
GA (%)	21.68 ± 4.32	23.34 ± 4.20	0.021
GA/HBA1C ratio	3.03 ± 0.26	3.09 ± 0.29	0.200
Total protein (g/dL)	79.13 ± 7.52	78.82 ± 6.94	0.795
Serum albumin (g/dL)	42.34 ± 5.96	42.79 ± 4.16	0.592
<i>Lipid profile</i> TC	10		
(mmol/L)	4.93 ± 1.20	5.21 ± 1.30	0.191
TG (mmol/L)	1.23 ± 0.66	1.17 ± 0.36	0.476
HDL-CHL (mmol/L)	1.32 ± 0.45	1.45 ± 0.44	0.074
LDL-CHL (mmol/L)	3.42 ± 1.21	3.58 ± 1.28	0.453
Renal fuction Urea	2-11	11.77	
(mmol/L)	4.31 ± 1.32	4.36 ± 1.13	0.778
Creatinine (µmol/L)	94.79 ± 22.66	91.28 ± 19.66	0.318
Sodium (Na+) (mmol/L)	137.49 ± 8.09	136.92 ± 9.94	0.71
Potassium (K+) (mmol/L)	4.07 ± 0.75	4.01 ± 0.54	0.594
eGFR, mL/min/1.73 m ²	91.67 ± 26.24	72.58 ± 22.72	< 0.0001

 Table 4.4: Glycemic indices, dyslipidemia and measures of renal function among the diabetic patients in relation to Gender

4.5 Proportion of glycemic control and Disease complications

Table 4.5 shows the proportion of glycemic control among diabetic patients. Glycemic control was assessed by estimating Glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c) and Glycated albumin (GA) (Table 4.5). The proportion of excellent control of blood glucose assessed using GA, 11.3%, was lower than that assessed by HbA1c (16.7%). Also, glycemic control assessed by GA showed a greater proportion of poor control (35.3%) than when assessed by HbA1c (28.7%) (Table 4.5).

Across the various age groups as shown in fig 4.1, diabetic nephropathy (29.3%) was more prevalent in the diabetic patients aged between 70-79 years and retinopathy (43.3%) more prevalent in the patients aged 60-69 years. The patients aged < 30 years did not present with diabetic nephropathy, however 3.3 % of them presented with diabetic retinopathy (Figure 4.1).

 Table 4.5: Proportion of glycemic control among diabetic patients assessed by

 HbA1c and GA

Glycemic Control	HbA1c (%)	GA (%)
Excellent (HbA1C \leq 6, GA \leq 18)	25 (16.7)	17 (11.3)
Good (6 < $HbA1C \le 7$, 18 < $GA \le 21$)	43 (28.7)	38 (25.3)
<i>Fair</i> (7 < <i>HbA1C</i> \leq 8, 21 < <i>GA</i> \leq 24)	39 (26.0)	42 (28.0)
<i>Poor</i> (<i>HbA1C</i> > 8, <i>GA</i> > 24)	43 (28.7)	53 (35.3)

Numbers in parentheses indicate the percentage of whole patients (n = 150)



Figure 4.1: Percentage occurrence of complications of diabetes across the various age distributions

4.6 Anthropometry, dyslipidemia and renal function among the diabetic patients in relation to their sickling status

Table 4.6 presents Anthropometry, dyslipidemia and renal function among the diabetic patients in relation to their sickling status. The diabetic patients with SCD showed no statistically significant difference as WC, WHR, BMI and serum lipid profile parameters were compared with those without SCD, except for HDL levels (P=0.034). Renal function parameters although increased in the diabetic SCD patients showed no

significant difference when compared to diabetics with no SCD. Estimated GFR was lower (P=0.401) in those with SCD (Table 4.6).

	2		
	Positive	Negative	
	(n = 32)	(n = 118)	-
WC (cm)	92.72 ± 10.66	92.06 ± 13.25	0.797
WHR	0.89 ± 0.07	0.90 ± 0.07	0.468
BMI n (Kg/m2)	29.21 ± 4.82	28.47 ± 5.84	0.510
BMI n (%)			0.261
Underweight	0 (0.0)	3 (2.5)	
Normal	5 (15.6)	30 (25.4)	
Overweight	17 (53.1)	42 (35.6)	
Obese	10 (31.2)	43 (36.4)	
<i>Lipid profile</i> TC	A CONTRACTOR OF		
(mmol/L)	5.28 ± 1.12	5.05 ± 1.30	0.377
TG (mmol/L)	1.23 ± 0.34	1.19 ± 0.53	0.687
HDL-CHL (mmol/L)	1.25 ± 0.42	1.44 ± 0.45	0.034
LDL-CHL (mmol/L)	3.79 ± 1.15	3.44 ± 1.27	0.158
Renal function	- 17	T	
Urea (mmol/L)	4.54 ± 1.41	4.29 ± 1.14	0.286
Creatinine (µmol/L)	93.44 ± 17.11	92.42 ± 21.83	0.807
Sodium (Na+) (mmol/L)	137.09 ± 7.00	137.15 ± 9.79	0.975
Potassium (K+) (mmol/L)	4.15 ± 0.83	4.01 ± 0.57	0.263
eGFR, mL/min/1.73 m ²	76.55 ± 21.30	80.89 ± 26.90	0.401
<i>eGFR</i> , <i>n</i> (%)			0.961
< 60	8 (25.0)	30 (25.4)	
≥60	24 (75.0)	88 (74.6)	

Table 4.6: Anthropometry, dyslipidemia and renal function among the diabeticpatients in relation to their sickling statusVariableSickling statusSickling status

4.7 Glycemic indices and prop<mark>ortion of glycemic con</mark>trol among the diabetic patients

stratified by their sickling status

Table 4.7 from the study shows that glycemic indices among the diabetics with SCD and those without SCD showed no statistically significant difference (P>0.05) as presented in Table 4.7. Among the diabetics with SCD, 46.9% and 93.8% poorly controlled their blood glucose assessed by HbA1c and GA respectively with 25.0% developing nephropathy and 21.9% retinopathy (Table 4.7).

Variable	Sicklin	ng status	P-value
	Positive (n= 32)	Negative (n= 118)	-
HB (g/dl)	11.18 ± 1.62	11.83 ± 1.69	0.056
Total protein (g/dL)	79.66 ± 6.13	78.75 ± 7.41	0.523
Serum albumin (g/dL)	42.17 ± 3.75	42.73 ± 5.20	0.566
Glycemic Indices FBG			
(mmol/L)	9.58 ± 3.68	9.18 ± 3.95	0.610
HbA1c (%)	6.99 ± 1.10	7.55 ± 1.50	0.051
GA (%)	21.86 ± 3.62	22.93 ± 4.47	0.217
Glycemic Control (HbA1c)			0.318
> 7 (poor control)	15 (46.9)	67 (56.8)	
\leq 7 (Good control)	17 (53.1)	51 (43.2)	
Glycemic Control (GA)			0.762
> 21 (poor control)	21 (65.6)	74 (62.7)	
\leq 21 (Good control)	11 (34.4)	44 (37.3)	
Disease complication			0.926
None	17 (53.1)	62 (52.5)	
Nephropathy	8 (25.0)	33 (28.0)	1
Retinopathy	7 (21.9)	23 (19.5)	5

 Table 4.7: Glycaemic indices and proportion of glycemic control among the diabetic

 patients stratified by their sickling status

4.8 Glycemic indices and proportion of glycaemic control of patients with diabetes stratified by the disease complication

Table 4.8 describes Glycemic indices and proportion of glycaemic control of patients with diabetes stratified by the disease complication. In the patients with diabetic nephropathy, HbA1c and GA were significantly (P< 0.05) lower compared to those with retinopathy. ANOVA multiple comparisons of the various complications showed significant differences in levels of total protein and serum albumin (P<0.0001, P =0.008 respectively). However, the difference in the levels of total protein and serum albumin among the patients with retinopathy and those without any complication were not significant (Table 4.8). In the patients with nephropathy, 17.1% and 14.6% excellently controlled their blood glucose whilst 14.6% and 17.1% poorly did as assessed by

HbA1c and GA respectively. On the other hand, 20.0% of the patients with retinopathy excellently controlled their blood glucose whilst 36.7% and 50.0% did poorly (HbA1c and GA respectively).

Complications P-va	l <u>ue None</u>	Nephropathy Ro	etinopathy	_
(n = 41)	(n = 79)		(n = 30)	
HB (g/dl) 11.18 ± 1.06 ^{*+}	$11.82 \pm 1.62^{*}$		$12.05 \pm 2.34^+$	0.061
Total protein (g/dL)	$80.93 \pm 5.54^{*}$	74.46 ± 9.36*+	$79.84 \pm 4.38^{\scriptscriptstyle +}$	< 0.0001
Serum albumin (g/dL)	$42.94 \pm 4.61^{*}$	$40.78 \pm 5.96^{*+}$	$44.25 \pm 3.23^+$	0.008
Glycemic Indices				
FBG (mmol/L)	9.21 ± <mark>3.6</mark> 4	9.39 ± 4.12	9.24 ± 4.29	0.970
HbA1c (%)	$7.59 \pm 1.45^{*}$	$6.90 \pm 0.97^{*+}$	$7.73\pm1.77^{+}$	0.018
GA (%)	23.29 ± 4.33	$20.74 \pm 2.99^{*+}$	$23.83\pm4.99^{\scriptscriptstyle +}$	0.002
GA/HbA1c ratio	3.08 ± 0.26	3.01 ± 0.28	3.10 ± 0.33	0.344
Hb <mark>A1c n (%)</mark>				0.162
Excellent	12 (15.2)	7 (17.1)	6 (20.0)	-
Good	19 (24.1)	18 (43.9)	6 (20.0)	3
Fair	22 (27.8)	10 (24.4)	7 (23.3)	
Poor	26 (32.9)	6 (14.6)	11 (36.7)	
GA n (%)	aze	- 133		0.005
Excellent	5 (6.3)	6 (14.6)	6 (20.0)	
Good	22 (27.8)	15 (36.6)	1 (3.3)	
Fair	21 (26.6)	13 (31.7)	8 (26.7)	
Poor	31 (39.2)	7 (17.1)	15 (50.0)	

Table 4.8: Glycemic indices and proportion of glycemic control of patients withdiabetes stratified by the disease complication VariablesDisease

*significantly different on comparison to None group, + significantly different on comparison to Nephropathy group at P < 0.05, Excellent (HbA1c \leq 6, GA \leq 18), Good (6 < HbA1c \leq 7, 18 < GA \leq 21), Fair (7 < HbA1c \leq 8, 21 < GA \leq 24), Poor (HbA1c > 8, GA > 24)

4.9 Anthropometry, dyslipidemia and renal function of the diabetic patients with and without disease complications

Obesity, dyslipidemia and renal function of the diabetic patients with and without disease complications is presented in table 4.9. Waist circumference, waist-to-hip ratio and BMI showed no statistically significant difference on comparison across the disease complication (Table 4.9). Overweight was observed in 48.8% and 36.7% of the patients with nephropathy and retinopathy respectively. On the other hand, obesity was 26.8% and 40.0% in the same groups respectively. Serum lipid profile although increased in the patients with retinopathy, showed no statistically significant difference between the groups as TC, TG, and LDL were compared (P>0.05) except for HDL (P=0.019) (Table 4.9).Renal assessment indicated no significant difference (P> 0.05) in levels of urea, creatinine, and potassium. However, sodium was significantly different on comparison (P<0.045).

P-value	The	AN		
	None	Nephropathy	Retin opathy	
WC (cm)	92.11 ± 14.51	90.15 ± 10.38	95.23 ± 9.97	0.250
WHR	0.90 ± 0.07	$0.89 \pm 0.08^+$	$0.92\pm0.05^{+}$	0.135
BMI n <mark>(Kg/m2)</mark>	28.79 ± 6.03	28.21 ± 5.10	28.77 ± 5.38	0.857
BMI n (%)			13	0.678
Underweight	2 (2.6)	0 (0.0)	1 (3.3)	
Normal	18 (23.4)	10 (24.4)	6 (20.0)	
Overweight	27 (35.1)	20 (48.8)	11 (36.7)	
Obese	30 (39.0)	11 (26.8)	12 (40.0)	
<i>Lipid profile</i> TC				
(mmol/L)	5.04 ± 1.20	5.07 ± 1.46	5.29 ± 1.15	0.627
TG (mmol/L)	1.22 ± 0.59	1.13 ± 0.36	1.22 ± 0.38	0.619
HDL-CHL (mmol/L)	1.40 ± 0.47	$1.27\pm0.42^{\scriptscriptstyle +}$	$1.57\pm0.37^{+}$	0.019
LDL-CHL (mmol/L)	3.44 ± 1.21	3.66 ± 1.49	3.51 ± 1.02	0.668

Table 4.9: Anthropometry, dyslipidemia and renal function of the diabetic patientswith and without disease complications VariablesDisease Complication

Renal fuction				
Urea (mmol/L)	4.35 ± 1.07	4.21 ± 1.63	4.50 ± 0.83	0.601
Creatinine (µmol/L)	93.85 ± 18.52	87.46 ± 25.49	96.53 ± 18.98	0.147
Sodium (Na+) (mmol/L)	$137.89 \pm 7.97^*$	$134.21 \pm 13.14^{*+}$	$139.17 \pm 3.53^+$	0.047
Potassium (K+) (mmol/L)	3.96 ± 0.35	4.18 ± 1.03	4.03 ± 0.47	0.193

*significantly different on comparison to None group, + significantly different on comparison to Nephropathy group at P < 0.05

4.10 Renal impairment assessed by estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) among diabetic patients in relation to their disease complications

Table 4.9 shows renal impairment assessed by estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) among diabetic patients. Estimated glomerular filtration rate was reduced in the patients with retinopathy compared to the other groups where 33.3% had eGFR< 60 $mL/min/1.73 m^2$. Furthermore, 24.4% of the patients with retinopathy and 22.8% of those without any disease complication had eGFR< 60 $mL/min/1.73 m^2$. Moderately reduced renal function (eGFR, 30-59 $mL/min/1.73 m^2$) was observed in 22.9% of patients without any complications, 24.4% of those with nephropathy and 33.0% with retinopathy (Table 4.10)

Variable	Disease Complication			P-value
Et.	None	Nephropathy	Retinopathy	
eGFR, mL/min/1.73 m ²	80.02 ± 25.31	83.86 ± 58.51	74.48 ± 22.87	0.32
<i>eGFR</i> , n (%)		Z	Br	0.521
< 60	18 (22.8)	10 (24.4)	10 (33.3)	
\geq 60	JAN			
	61 (77.2)	31 (75.6)	20 (66.7)	
Renal state: eGFR, n (%)				0.272
Stage $1: \ge 90$	22 (27.8)	17 (41.5)	8 (26.7)	
Stage 2: 60-89	39 (49.4)	14 (34.1)	12 (40.0)	
Stage 3a: 45-59	17 (21.6)	8 (19.5)	10 (33.3)	
Stage 3b:30-44	1 (1.3)	2 (4.9)	0 (0.0)	

Table 4.10: Renal impairment assessed by estimated glomerular filtration rate(eGFR) among diabetic patients in relation to their disease complications

4.11 Clinical characteristics of the patients with metabolic syndrome

Table 4.11 presents the clinical characteristics of the patients with metabolic syndrome. Metabolic syndrome was observed in 4.7% of the patients with diabetes. Total protein, serum albumin, HbA1c and GA were observed to be increased in the patients with metabolic syndrome however the differences were not statistically significant (P> 0.05). A greater proportion (85.7%) of those with metabolic syndrome had poor glycaemic control as assessed by both criteria. Diabetic nephropathy and retinopathy were present in 28.6% and 14.3% of the patients with metabolic syndrome respectively. **Table 4.11**:

Variable	Syndrome	P-value	
	YES	NO	-
223	(n =7)	(n=143)	
HB (g/dl)	12.84 ± 0.59	11.63 ± 1.70	0.064
Total protein (g/dL)	79.11 ± 3.71	78.93 ± 7.28	0.948
Serum albumin (g/dL)	44.24 ± 5.00	42.53 ± 4.92	0.371
Glycemic Indices	LAND		
HbA1c (%)	7.74 ± 1.16	7.41 ± 1.45	0.560
GA (%)	24.53 ± 4.76	22.61 ± 4.29	0.251
Glycemic Control (HbA1c)			0.091
> 7 (poor control)	6 (85.7)	76 (53.1)	
\leq 7 (Good control)	1 (14.3)	67 (46.9)	
Glycemic Control (GA)		5 BAT	0.208
> 21 (poor control)	6 (85.7)	89 (62.2)	
\leq 21 (Good control)	1 (14.3)	54 (37.8)	
Renal function			
Urea (mmol/L)	4.44 ± 1.08	4.34 ± 1.21	0.822
Creatinine (mmol/L)	82.51 ± 26.81	93.14 ± 20.52	0.189
Sodium (Na+) (mmol/L)	139.31 ± 4.52	137.03 ± 9.41	0.526
Potassium (K+) (mmol/L)	3.83 ± 0.52	4.05 ± 0.64	0.390

Clinical characteristics of the patients with metabolic syndrome

eGFR, mL/min/1.73 m ²	93.91 ± 24.79	79.28 ± 25.74	0.143
Disease complication			0.927
None	4 (57.1)	75 (52.4)	
Nephropathy	2 (28.6)	39 (27.3)	
Retinopathy	1 (14.3)	29 (20.3)	

Fig. 4.2 & 4.3 Correlation analysis of HbA1c, GA, HB and Serum albumin

In figure 4.2 below, a highly significant relationship (P<0.001) was established between the levels of HbA1c and Glycated albumin among patients with diabetes (A) and those without diabetes (B).

The relationship between HbA1c and haemoglobin showed a positive correlation in both diabetics and non-diabetics although was not significant (P>0.05). On the other hand, a significantly direct association was observed between Glycated haemoglobin and serum albumin levels in diabetic patients (r=0.264, P=0.001). However, the relationship observed in the non-diabetics was no statistically significant (r= 0.186, P=0.195) (Figure 4.3).



Figure 4.2: Relationship between HbA1c and GA levels in patients with diabetes (A) and without diabetes (B), r= Pearson's correlation coefficient, n = Number of patients



Figure 4.3: Relationship between HbA1c and Haemoglobin; and GA and Serum albumin levels in patients with diabetes (A1, B1) and without diabetes (A2, B2), r= Pearson's correlation coefficient, n = Number of patients

4.12 Relationship between glycemic indices, age, measures of obesity, total protein and serum albumin

The relationship between glycemic indices, age, measures of obesity, total protein and serum albumin is presented in table 4.11. Glycated haemoglobin significantly and directly correlates with Glycated albumin, total protein and serum albumin (P<0.05) among the diabetic patients, whereas it correlates inversely with Age (r= -0.015, P=0.859) and BMI (r= - 0.017, P=0.709).

Glycated albumin on the other hand is positively and significantly associated with total protein (r= 0.197, P= 0.016) and serum albumin (r= 0.264, P= 0.001). Age and WHR were negatively correlated and showed no significance (Table 4.11).

 Table 4.12: Relationship between glycemic indices, age, measures of obesity, total protein and serum albumin (Person's correlation)

Parameters		HbA1c	GA	AGE	BMI	WHR	HB	ТР	S.ALB
HbA1c	R	1	0.902**	-0.015	-0.017	0.031	0.062	0.215**	0.262**
	P-value		0.000	0.859	0.841	0.709	0.453	0.008	0.001
GA	R		1	-0.057	0.069	-0.003	0.087	.197*	.264**
	P-value			0.486	0.401	0.969	0.292	0.016	0.001
AGE	R			1	-0.072	-0.106	0.053	-0.069	-0.054
	P-value				0.382	0.198	0.52	0.404	0.509
BMI	R				1	0.113	-0.057	0.01	-0.01
	P-value					0.170	0.486	0.902	0.902
WHR	R			10		1	0.204*	0.139	0.216**
	P-value						0.012	0.091	0.008
HB	R						1	0.091	0.135
	P-value		1	5	200	1		0.266	0.099
ТР	R	~		162			75	1	0.528**
	P-value			10		1 F	17		0.000
S. ALB.	R	7-6	22	8		25	2		1
	P-value		-02			1			

R=Correlation coefficient, ** Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed),* Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

4.13 Relationship between glycemic indices and dyslipidemia

Table 4.12 shows the relationship between glycemic indices and dyslipidemia. Glycated haemoglobin and glycated albumin both showed an inverse but insignificant relationship with total cholesterol (TC) levels (r= -0.073, P= 0.377; r= -0.041, P=0.617 respectively) and LDL (r= -0.083, P= 0.311; r= -0.090, P=0.272 respectively). However a direct relationship with TG, HDL with no significance (P>0.05) was observed (Table 4.12)

P		(· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				
Parameters		HbA1c	GA	FBS	ТС	TG	HDL	LDL
HbA1c	R	1	0.902**	0.049	-0.073	0.014	0.055	-0.083
	P-value		0.000	0.550	0.377	0.863	0.502	0.311
GA	R		1	-0.006	-0.041	0.002	0.078	-0.09
	P-value	- e 2	-	0.943	0.617	0.977	0.343	0.272
FBG	R			1	-0.025	-0.061	0.107	-0.012
	P-value				0.764	0.460	0.193	0.886
TC	R			\sim	1 - 1	0.161*	0.208*	0.882**
	P-value					0.049	0.011	0.000
TG	R					1	-0.199*	0.112
	P-value						0.015	0.172
HDL	R				1.0		1	-0.069
	P-value							0.403
LDL	R							1
	P-value							

Table 4.13: Relationship between glycemic indices, age, measures of obesity, total protein and serum albumin (Person's correlation)

4.14 Relationship between glycemic indices and measures of renal function

The relationship between glycemic indices and measures of renal function is shown in table 4.14. The glycemic indices showed inverse correlation with potassium levels and estimated GFR. Urea, creatinine and sodium on the other hand were directly but not statistically significantly associated with the glycemic indices (Table 4.13)

	100	-			-	Sodium	Potassium	
Parameters	1	HbA1c	GA	Urea	Creatinine	(Na ⁺)	(K ⁺)	eGFR
HbA1c	R	1	0.902**	0.031	0.073	0.075	-0.123	-0.125
	P-value		0.000	0.704	0.373	0.359	0.134	0.127
GA	R		1	0.066	0.017	0.092	-0.151	-0.098
	P-value			0.426	0.836	0.263	0.065	0.234
Urea	R			1	0.588**	0.075	0.165*	-0.445**
	P-value				0.000	0.361	0.044	0.000
Creatinine	R				1	0.242**	0.022	-0.820**

 Table 4.14: Relationship between glycemic indices and measures of renal function (Person's correlation)

	P-value				0.003	0.785	0.000
Sodium (Na+)	R				1	-0.243**	-0.232**
	P-value					0.003	0.004
Potassium (K ⁺)	R					1	0.047
	P-value						0.571
eGFR	R						1
	P-value	EZ N	1010	10	in the second second		

4.15 Determinants of poor glycaemic control among participants

Table 4.15 shows the Logistic regression of determinants for poor glycaemic control. The risk of having poor glycaemic control assessed by GA (OR=3.25, P=0.001) was significantly higher compared to that assessed by HbA1c (OR=1.52, P=0.213) for female diabetics. Diabetic patients with complications showed minimal association with poor glycaemic control as assessed by HbA1c. However, diabetics with retinopathy showed high risk of poor control assessed by GA (OR=1.71, P=0.278). Poor glycaemic control determined by HbA1c and GA were highly associated with Obesity (Table 4.14). Reduced kidney function was determined to be high risk factor in developing poor glycemic control assessed by both criteria.

HbA1c	GA		
OR (95% CI)	P-value	OR (95% CI)	P-value
		2	
Reference	2	Reference	
1.52 (0.79-2.95)	0.213	3.25 (1.62-6.52)	0.001
STATE.			
Reference		Reference	
0.41 (0.19-0.90)	0.025	0.50 (0.23-1.07)	0.073
0.97 (0.41-2.29)	0.942	1.71 (0.65-4.48)	0.278
1.50 (0.12-18.13)	0.750	0.92 (0.08-11.22)	0.946
	HbA1c OR (95% CI) Reference 1.52 (0.79-2.95) Reference 0.41 (0.19-0.90) 0.97 (0.41-2.29) 1.50 (0.12-18.13)	HbA1c DR (95% CI) P-value Reference 0.213 Reference 0.213 Reference 0.025 0.97 (0.41-2.29) 0.942 1.50 (0.12-18.13) 0.750	HbA1c GA OR (95% CI) P-value OR (95% CI) Reference Reference 3.25 (1.62-6.52) Reference 0.213 3.25 (1.62-6.52) Reference Reference 0.50 (0.23-1.07) 0.97 (0.41-2.29) 0.942 1.71 (0.65-4.48) 1.50 (0.12-18.13) 0.750 0.92 (0.08-11.22)

 Table 4.15: Logistic regression of determinants for poor glycaemic control assessed

 by HbA1c and Glycated Albumin (GA) in diabetic patients

Normal*	Reference		Reference	
Overweight	0.59 (0.25-1.37)	0.222	0.44 (0.18-1.07)	0.069
Obese	1.34 (0.56-3.22)	0.509	1.41 (0.55-3.64)	0.478
eGFR,				
≥ 60	Reference		Reference	
< 60	1.60 (0.75-3.40)	0.226	1.35 (0.62-2.95)	0.452

OR=Odds Ratio, CI= Confidence Interval

4.16 Area under the curve for HbA1c and GA as markers for Glycemic control

Figure 4.4 shows the receiver operator curve for HbA1c and GA as markers for Glycemic control. The area under the ROC curve for HbA1c and GA was 0.732 and 0.879 respectively suggesting that both markers for glycemic control are good but, GA is a better maker with higher AUC.



Figure 4 4 Receiver Operator Curve and Area under the curve (AUC) for HbA1c (A) and GA (B) in the management of T2DM

SANE

4.17 Accuracy of Glycemic control in the management of T2DM

Table 4.16 shows the Accuracy of HbA1c and GA as Glycemic control in the management of T2DM. The diagnostic value of 7.15% for HbA1c had a sensitivity of

52.0% and Specificity of 82.0% for Glycemic control in the management of T2DM and 20.60% diagnostic value with 67.3% sensitivity and 86.0% Specificity for GA (Table 4.16).

1 able 4.10 A	curacy of Glycenne co	introl in the manageme		
Threshold values	Sensitivity (95% CI)	Specificity (95% CI)	AUC (95% CI)	P-value
T2DM				
HbA1c (%)				
7.15	52.0% (43.7-60.2)	82.0% (68.6-91.4)	0.732 (0.66-0.81)	< 0.0001
GA (%)				
20.60	67.3% (59.2-74.8)	86.0% (73.3-94.2)	0.879 (0.83-0.93)	< 0.0001

Table 4.16 Accuracy of Glycemic control in the management of T2DM

CHAPTER 5

DISCUSSION

5.1 Introduction

This case comparative study was conducted at the Diabetic Clinic of the Tema General Hospital with a total of 200 participants recruited for the study of which 150 were known and confirmed diabetics and 50 were healthy individuals attending the Hospital. The 150 diabetics consisted of 79 diabetics without any complications, 41 with diabetic renal damage and 30 with diabetic retinopathy. According to the International Diabetes Federation (Atlas, 2009) the peak age for onset of diabetes in 2010 is 40–59 years, but by 2030, the highest prevalence will be in the oldest age-group (60–79 years). This was also reflected in this study where the mean age of the diabetics was 58.39 ± 12.76 years. The high proportion of females (61.3%) in this study may be due to the nature of the population being admitted to this hospital in that more women seek medical attention than men (38.7%) and the fact that diabetes is more prevalent in females than males (Crook *et al.*, 1994; Amoah *et al.*, 2000). The largest percentage (28.0%) of diabetic

patients in this study was found in the age group, 60 - 69 years. However, a sizeable percentage (20.6%), were \geq 70 years. Only a low percentage (8.7%) were below 40 years, a value that is lower compared to a value of 13.0% obtained for type 2 diabetic patients <40 years (Aguilar-Salinas *et al.*, 2003). In sub-Saharan Africa, prevalence of diabetes increases with age, with most reports indicating a peak at either 65 years or older (Ahren & Corrigan, 1984; Ducorps *et al.*, 1996; Fichtlscherer *et al.*, 2000) or 55–64 years (Mollentze *et al.*, 1995). Age seems to be a relevant risk factor for diabetes and association suggests that, in Africa, the effect on diabetes prevalence is already evident (Elbagir *et al.*, 1996; Christensen *et al.*, 2009).

The present study also recorded more elderly women than men (Table 4.3). The combined effect of a greater number of elderly women than men in most populations, and the increasing prevalence of diabetes mellitus with age is the most likely explanation for this observation. This pattern, however, confirms that the prevalence of diabetes mellitus increases with age for both males and females; furthermore the majority of people with diabetes mellitus in developing countries are in the 45 – 64 years range (King *et al.*, 1998; Hillier & Pedula, 2001; Wild *et al.*, 2004). In Nigeria, Ekpenyong *et al.* (2012) also found diabetes to be higher among females than males.

5.2 Anthropometric variables in T2DM

In most studies from sub-Saharan Africa, adiposity (encompassing body-mass index, waist and hip circumference, and waist-to-hip ratio and adiposity indices) has generally been associated with diabetes and data indicate that prevalence of the disorder rises with increasing body-mass index, waist-to-hip ratio, and waist circumference (Cooper *et al.*, 1997; Welborn *et al.*, 2003; Motala *et al.*, 2008). Significant differences in mean waist circumference and WHR were observed between diabetic patients and nondiabetics. Mean BMI was not significantly different between diabetic patients and nondiabetics

however overweight (39.2%) and obesity (35.8%) was prevalent in the diabetic patients for the present study. These results corroborate the findings in several studies where high overweight and obesity prevalence were recorded in patients with diabetes (Kaushik, 2006; Nguyen *et al.* 2008; Oghagbon *et al.*, 2009). Researchers from Southern Africa (Levitt *et al.*, 1993; Motala *et al.*, 2008), reported very high rates of obesity (58–65%) in individuals with diabetes compared with people from Tanzania (9·1%) and Sudan (7·7%).

The mean BMI of males $(27.10 \pm 5.12 \text{ kg/m}^2)$ and females $(29.59 \pm 5.75 \text{ kg/m}^2)$ with diabetes both indicate overweight, however, the females have a significantly higher BMI (P = 0.008) than males. Similarly, the percentage of female diabetics who were obese (75.5%) and overweight (58.6%) were significantly higher than the corresponding values of 24.5% and 41.4% for male diabetics (P = 0.015). This is consistent with earlier results by Akbar (2002) that indicated that obesity was more common in females than males in type 2 diabetic patients. Females have been known to be more prone to abdominal obesity compared with their male counterparts due to their vulnerability. Women who were nutritionally deprived in childhood are more likely to be obese in adulthood, while men who were deprived in childhood face no greater risk. On the average, women have more body fat than men. This could be attributed to impact of oestrogen as it reduces their ability to burn energy after eating which results in increased storage of fat in the body (Stephen, 2007; Ekpenyong et al., 2012). Obesity characterized by excess body fat is probably the most notable risk factor for the development of type 2 diabetes (Edelstein et al., 1997; Wild et al., 2004). This, however, could account for the higher prevalence of obesity, increase in waist circumference and BMI in the diabetic females in this study. Thus, there is a higher percentage of Ghanaian female diabetics (61.3%) than males (38.7%) whose condition may be associated with obesity in the current study. These results corroborate the findings in several studies where high overweight and obesity prevalence were recorded in female patients with diabetes (Kaushik, 2006; Oghagbon *et al.*, 2009; Mitolo *et al.*, 2015).

5.3 Dyslipidemia (Total cholesterol, Triglyceride, LDL, HDL) in T2DM

In diabetes many factors may affect blood lipid levels, because of interrelationship between carbohydrate and lipid metabolism. Therefore, any disorder in carbohydrate metabolism leads to disorder in lipid metabolism and vice versa. Insulin resistance is a primary defect in the majority of patients with T2DM (Haffner et al., 2000). Multiple risk factors are associated with CVD in type 2 diabetic patients, including hypertension, hyperlipidaemia and obesity (Haffner et al., 2000). These risk factors are also the main features of the metabolic syndrome. In patients with T2DM, many studies have clearly established that complications are mainly due to chronic hyperglycemia that exerts its health effects through several mechanisms: dyslipidemia, platelet activation, and altered endothelial metabolism (Jokl & Colwell, 1997; Brownlee, 2001; Taskinen, 2003). Dyslipidemia as a metabolic abnormality is frequently associated with diabetes mellitus. Abnormalities in lipid metabolism have been reported in patients with diabetes mellitus accompanied by the risk of cardiovascular arteriosclerosis (Goldberg, 2001; Krauss, 2004). The lipoprotein abnormalities commonly present in T2DM include hypertriglyceridemia and reduced plasma HDL cholesterol. In the present study, higher mean serum levels of total cholesterol, triglycerides and LDL cholesterol with low HDL were observed in patients with diabetes, which are well known risk factors for cardiovascular diseases among patients, when compared to the patients with no diabetes (Table 4.2). This therefore supports the fact that, defects in insulin action and hyperglycemia could lead to changes in plasma lipoproteins in patients with diabetes (Ginsberg, 1996; Taghibiglou *et al.*, 2000).

Among the patients with diabetes, levels of serum total cholesterol, triglycerides and LDL cholesterol and HDL-cholesterol were increased in the females than the males. This could also be associated with the increase in adiposity in the females since obesity has been widely associated with dyslipidemia (Krauss, 2004; Langat, 2011).

5.4 Renal function in T2DM

There were significant increases in urea and creatinine among diabetics than the nondiabetics in this study. Increased blood urea concentration with increasing blood sugar levels demonstrated in this clearly illustrates the association between hyperglycaemia and damage to the kidney (Zimmet *et al.*, 2001; Shrestha *et al.*, 2008). This finding corroborates the findings of Shrestha *et al.* (2008) that hyperglycemia is one of the major causes of progressive renal damage. Furthermore, Adler *et al.* (2003) indicated that raised plasma creatinine and urea levels among diabetic patients may indicate a pre-renal problem such as volume depletion. Judykay (2007) also proposed that high creatinine levels observed in diabetic patients may be due to impaired function of the nephrons.

As expected the male diabetics showed slightly higher creatinine levels than the females but the differences were not statistically significant. This finding is consistent with established knowledge that blood creatinine levels are influenced by gender. The high serum creatinine levels seen in males compared to females is attributable to the presence of high muscle mass in males (Anjaneyulu & Chopra, 2004; Ashavaid *et al.*, 2005;
Singh *et al.*, 2014). Anjaneyulu *et al.* (2004) confirmed in their studies that increasing serum urea and serum creatinine among diabetics indicates progressive renal damage.

Patients with type 2 diabetes have an increased risk for cardiovascular and chronic kidney disease. Superimposed hypertension further increases the risk and is associated with increased dietary sodium intake(Provenzano *et al.*, 2014). This may account for the significant increase in sodium levels established among the diabetic patients.

In addition, eGFR was significantly reduced (P<0.0001) among the diabetics compared to the non-diabetics indicating probable deterioration of renal function in the diabetics.

According to the guidelines of the National Kidney Foundation for the diagnosis and stratification of chronic kidney diseases, renal function is moderately decreased if GFR is <60 mL/min/1.73 m² and severely decreased if GFR is <30 mL/min/1.73 m² (Levey *et al.*, 2003). The study has shown that 25.3% of the diabetics had GFR <60 mL/min/1.73 m². Other studies have also reported decreased renal function among patients with diabetes (Dukas *et al.*, 2005; Kengne *et al.*, 2005). This study also established that about 25.0% of the diabetic SCD patients presented with moderately decreased renal function. This subset of diabetics with SCD who have low eGFR, hypertension and/or albuminuria may be at particular risk for development of overt sickle cell nephropathy and/or advanced CKD and merit close attention (Lu *et al.*, 2011).

5.5 Complications associated with T2DM

The common causes of diabetic complications are poor control of diabetes either due to non-adherence, poor attitude towards the disease and its complications, unhealthy diet, and insufficient physical activity, as well as poor management by health care professionals (Fitzgerald *et al.*, 1995; Ajayi & Ajayi, 2009; Sharma *et al.*, 2011). The

high prevalence of nephropathy (27.3%) followed by retinopathy (20.0%), which are the most specific complications of hyperglycaemia, suggests a delay between the onset of diabetes and the time of diagnosis (Harzallah et al., 2006; Christensen et al., 2009). In one study in Egypt, about 80% of the patients lacked the knowledge about the ocular hazards of diabetes (Macky et al., 2011). In the patients with diabetes, nephropathy (29.3%) was prevalent in those between the ages of 70-79 years and retinopathy (43.3%) in the patients aged 60-69 years. The high incidence of diabetic complications at age's ≥ 60 years may suggest a direct relationship, in that a diabetic patient is more likely to develop nephropathy and retinopathy at old age. Recent studies have reported that poor renal function is a risk factor for falls in older adults (Dukas et al., 2005; Kengne et al., 2005). Gender relation showed 68.3%, 31.7% nephropathy in the females and males respectively and 63.3%, 36.7% retinopathy in the females and males respectively. Blood pressure was noticed to be higher in the diabetics with nephropathy and lower in those with retinopathy than the diabetics with no complications. High rates of microvascular complications are at least partly attributable to frequent high blood pressure and inappropriate diabetes control, in relation to limited access to care.

Overall, retinopathy affects 15–55% of patients, with a high proportion of proliferative retinopathy and macular oedema. In individuals with type 2 diabetes, 21–25% have retinopathy at diagnosis of diabetes compared with 9.5% of those with type 1 diabetes (Mbanya *et al.*, 2010). In cohorts with mean diabetes duration of 5–10 years, 32–57% has microalbuminuria or macroalbuminuria, and a third to half of people on maintenance haemodialysis have diabetes (Mbanya & Sobngwi, 2003). Coronary heart disease can affect 5–8% of individuals with type 2 diabetes and cardiomyopathy—up to 50% of all patients with type 2 diabetes (Kengne *et al.*, 2005).

5.6 Variations in Glycated hemoglobin, Glycated albumin and Glycemic control assessed by both criteria in T2DM

This study showed significantly (P=0.001) increased glycated haemoglobin, Glycated albumin levels and high GA-HbA1c ratio in type-2 diabetics compared with nondiabetics. These findings were in accordance to the study of (Koga *et al.*, 2007; Khurshid *et al.*, 2010). HbA1c is formed by a non-enzymatic irreversible process with combination of aldehyde group of glucose and the amino terminal valine of β chain of haemoglobin. As plasma glucose is consistently elevated, there is increase in nonenzymatic glycation of haemoglobin (Chen *et al.*, 1996; Ahmad, 2005) hence the increase in HbA1c observed in this study.

The glycation efficiency depends on the nature and the anomerization of the carbohydrate involved in the process. In vivo studies demonstrated that the proportion of glycated albumin in healthy persons is in the range of 1- 10%, compared with diabetic individuals in whom this may increase two- to three fold (Bourdon *et al.*, 1999). Poor glycemic control was generally increased using both criteria; however, poor control assessed by Glycated albumin was higher (63.3%). As serum GA reflects shorter terms of glycemic control than HbA1c, GA changes more rapidly than HbA1c as glycemic control changes (Tahara & Shima, 1995; Koga *et al.*, 2011; Won *et al.*, 2012). GA is indicated to reflect plasma glucose excursions and/or postprandial glucose levels better than HbA1c (Yoshiuchi *et al.*, 2008; Sakuma *et al.*, 2011). Previous study show that endogenous insulin secretion had inverse correlation with the GA/HbA1c ratio in patients with decreased insulin secretion, GA levels are set higher relative to HbA1c because of marked plasma glucose excursions. The GA/HbA1c ratio also decreases as glycemic control improves and increases as glycemic control worsens

(Takahashi *et al.*, 2007; Murai *et al.*, 2013). In the present study, higher GA/HbA1c ratio was also observed in the diabetics.

In accordance with the study of Morita *et al.* (2013) mean levels of GA and the GA/HbA1c ratio were significantly higher in patients with diabetic retinopathy than in patients without diabetic retinopathy. Taken together with these observations, patients with higher postprandial glucose levels are prone to show higher levels of GA in relation to HbA1c and to develop diabetic retinopathy. In previous studies, more patients with diabetic retinopathy were given treatment with insulin than patients without diabetic retinopathy. Furthermore, in the patients with the insulin treatment lower insulin secretion was associated with marked plasma glucose excursions and also with elevated GA (Koga *et al.*, 2010). Thus, lower insulin secretion may be associated with the development of diabetic retinopathy, although plasma insulin levels were not determined in the present study.

5.7 Metabolic syndrome in Type 2 Diabetes

The metabolic syndrome is a common metabolic disorder that results from the increasing prevalence of central obesity(Eckel *et al.*, 2005). The prevalence of MetS in this study was 4.7 % which is very low compared to higher prevalence in studies by Titty *et al.* (2008) and Nsiah *et al.* (2015). This low prevalence may be attributed to low numbers of diabetics with central obesity in this study. The syndrome is increasingly recognized as a risk factor for diabetes mellitus and cardiovascular disease (Isomaa *et al.*, 2001).

Poor glycaemic control and metabolic syndrome are all risk factors for CVD(Grundy *et al.*, 2004). The proportion of the diabetic patients with MetS with poor glycaemia was 85.7% using both criteria. Thus, about 86% of the patients with MetS may be associated with CVD by HbA1c and GA values. Thus the metabolic syndrome was associated with

worsening glycaemic control. This confirms earlier reports by Thorn *et al.* (2005)that metabolic syndrome is correlated with poor glycaemic control.

Although the results of this study may suggest that metabolic syndrome and renal dysfunction may be related due to the increased renal function parameters, it is difficult to draw any definitive conclusion concerning a cause-and-effect relationship. This is because many patients with the metabolic syndrome have diabetes and are obese, which are widely known risk factors for the development and progression of CKD (Levey *et al.*, 2005). Study by Chen *et al.* (2004)revealed that hypertension and fasting plasma glucose levels of >110 mg/dl were the individual traits of the syndrome and that they are associated with the greatest risk for microalbuminuria and a low GFR.Chen *et al.* (2004)again found that reduced HDL cholesterol or high TG levels were independently associated with a significantly increased risk for CKD. However, some data also suggest that other aspects of the metabolic syndrome may play an independent role in promoting renal damage(Muntner *et al.*, 2000).

5.8 Relationship between Glycemic indices (HbA1c and GA), hemoglobin and serum albumin

Glycated albumin correlated significantly with Glycated hemoglobin indicating a direct relationship among the patients with diabetes (r=0.902, p<0.0001) which is consistent with the reports by (Inaba *et al.*, 2007; Pu *et al.*, 2007). In some studies glycated albumin is suggested as an alternative marker for glycemic control in many diabetes complications, including nephropathy (Koga *et al.*, 2011), retinopathy (Okumura *et al.*, 2007) and also in the case of hemodialysis patients or gestational diabetes (Nagayama *et al.*, 2009; Hashimoto *et al.*, 2010). This observations further indicate that the determination of the serum Glycated albumin level may be a valuable adjunct to HbA1c

measurement for evaluating short-term glycemic control in diabetic patients (Pu *et al.*, 2007).

Some studies have reported that in some case, HbA1C values should be considered cautiously. As a matter of fact, glycated hemoglobin levels have invalid correlation to blood glucose levels in patients with hemolytic anemia, or those having hemodialysis or iron deficiency (Takahashi *et al.*, 2007; Hashimoto *et al.*, 2010). In the present study however, highly significant association was observed between Glycated albumin and serum albumin but different for Glycated hemoglobin and hemoglobin.

Thus in numerous case such as hemolytic or renal anemia and liver cirrhosis, HbA1c gives incorrect values and is not suitable marker as a control (Jeffcoate, 2004). Glycated albumin, because of its shorter half-life (21 days) compared with hemoglobin, could be used as a shorter-term glycemic control for diabetes. The glycated albumin level could not to be easily altered by abnormal hemoglobin metabolism (Kosecki *et al.*, 2005). This advantage of glycated albumin is based on two facts. First, the amount of in vivo non-enzymatic glycation of albumin is approximately 9 times more than HbA1C. Secondly, albumin glycation reaction occurs ten times more quickly than hemoglobin glycation so, the glycation phenomenon in plasmatic protein occurs more easily than hemoglobin, which all make the glycated albumin a good additional marker for evaluating glycemic control in type 1 and 2 diabetes (Adler *et al.*, 2000; Yoshiuchi *et al.*, 2008).

5.9 Risk factors associated with poor glycemic control using both criteria in T2DM In the light of the present study, gender and obesity were shown to increase the odds of poor glycemic control assessed by both criteria. Inflammation is known to decrease the rate of albumin synthesis and increase its catabolic rate. Thus, chronic inflammation

65

process may provide a mechanism for increased turnover of serum albumin in obese subjects which may further influence GA levels (Schultze & Heremans, 1966; Don & Kaysen, 2004). This could however explain the positive correlation between GA and BMI in this study. On the contrary, Koga *et al.* (2006) found a significant negative correlation of GA levels and BMI and no correlation of BMI with HbA1c.

5.10 Predictive value of HbA1c and GA in the monitoring of t2dm

The findings in this study indicated that Glycated albumin (GA) as compared to HbA1c is a better marker of glycaemic control in monitoring T2DM. Several studies (Guthrow *et al.*, 1979; Koga *et al.*, 2010) have shown that GA is a more reliable DM monitor and a better marker of glycaemic control than is HbA1c in patients undergoing hemodialysis and in patients with fluctuating and poorly controlled type 2 DM. Measurements of glycaemic control in patients with diabetes. HbA1c represents an integrated measurement of blood glucose during the preceding 2 months while serum GA, a shorterterm marker, reflects glycaemic control over approximately the preceding 2 weeks (Guthrow *et al.*, 1979; Shima *et al.*, 1988).

GA is not influenced by a number of physiologic and pathologic conditions that affect HbA1c levels, such as anemia and genetic haemoglobin abnormalities (Bry *et al.*, 2001).Unfortunately, there may also be interferences with the GA assay. While HbA1c measurement is affected by reduced erythrocyte survival or an increase in young erythrocytes (e.g., during treatment with erythropoietin stimulating agents), GA can be influenced by factors that affect albumin turnover (Koga *et al.*, 2007; Miyashita *et al.*, 2007). Since the half-life of serum albumin is around 2 weeks, shorter than that of erythrocytes, GA reflects shorter terms of glycaemic control than HbA1c (Tahara *et al.*, 1993). Reflecting such characteristics, it has been recently shown that changes in GA can predict change in HbA1c after diabetes treatment (Okada *et al.*, 2011; Won *et al.*, 2012). In addition, there have been accumulating evidences that HbA1c mainly reflects mean plasma glucose levels while GA also reflects plasma glucose excursions and/or postprandial glucose levels better than HbA1c (Cohen, 1988; Ogawa *et al.*, 2012).

CHAPTER 6

CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION

6.1 CONCLUSION

Glycated albumin reflects glucose excursions more strongly than HbA1c, hence GA might be a more sensitive index for some diabetic complications than HbA1c. The available evidence points to glycated albumin levels as a useful marker for diabetes management, although much still needs to be learned about the mechanism of albumin glycation and about how this marker compares with the much better established HbA1c. However, the significant association between Glycated albumin and HbA1c suggests that serum Glycated albumin level may be a valuable adjunct to HbA1c measurement for evaluating short-term glycemic control in diabetic patients.

The results indicate that female diabetic patients turn to develop dyslipidemia and obesity than their male counterparts resulting in increased poor glycaemic control on the part of the females. TC, LDL was not significantly associated with GA and HbA1c levels, however, increase in TG levels may partly result in increased level of GA and HbA1c. This could however, suggest that diabetic patients with dyslipidemia may have difficulty controlling their blood glucose.

The finding of this study also provides evidence of poor renal function in the patients with diabetes and is further complicated by SCD. The disease complications evaluated revealed 27.3% and 20.0% diabetic nephropathy and retinopathy respectively and were attributed to non-adherence, poor attitude towards the disease and its complications, unhealthy diet, and insufficient physical activity, and due to poor management by the health care professionals. Hence the need for critical monitoring of patients with diabetes in other to curb the increase in the complications.

Factors associated with poor glycaemic control in diabetic patients included gender, obesity, disease complications and the state of their renal function. These factors however were determined to increase the odds of having poor glycaemic control assessed by GA and HbA1c.

6.2 RECOMMENDATION

There is therefore the need for critical monitoring of patients with diabetes in other to curb the increase in the complications.



REFERENCES

- Adler, A. I., Stratton, I. M., Neil, H. A., Yudkin, J. S., Matthews, D. R., Cull, C. A., Holman, R. R. (2000). Association of systolic blood pressure with macrovascular and microvascular complications of type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 36): prospective observational study. *BMJ*, 321(7258), 412-419.
- Adler, Amanda I, Stevens, Richard J, Manley, Sue E, Bilous, Rudy W, Cull, Carole A, & Holman, Rury R. (2003). Development and progression of nephropathy in type 2 diabetes: the United Kingdom Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS 64). *Kidney international*, 63(1), 225-232.
- Aguilar-Salinas, C. A., Velazquez Monroy, O., Gomez-Perez, F. J., Gonzalez Chavez, A., Esqueda, A. L., Molina Cuevas, V., Encuesta Nacional de Salud, Group. (2003). Characteristics of patients with type 2 diabetes in Mexico: Results from a large population-based nationwide survey. *Diabetes Care*, 26(7), 2021-2026.
- Ahmad, N. (2005). Advanced glycation end products-role in pathology of diabetic complications. *Diabetes. Res. Clin. Pract*, 67, 63-21.
- Ahren, B, & Corrigan, CB. (1984). Prevalence of diabetes mellitus in north-western Tanzania. *Diabetologia*, 26(5), 333-336.
- Ajayi, EA, & Ajayi, AO. (2009). Pattern and outcome of diabetic admissions at a federal medical center: A 5-year review. *Annals of African medicine*, 8(4).
- Akbar, D.H. (2002). Metabolic syndrome is common in Saudi type 2 diabetic patients. *Diabetes International.*, 12 (12): 47-49.
- Alberti, K. G. (1996). The clinical implications of impaired glucose tolerance. *Diabet Med*, *13*(11), 927-937. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1096-9136(199611)13:11<927: AID-DIA279>3.0.CO;2-E
- Alberti, K. G., & Zimmet, P. Z. (1998). Definition, diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus and its complications. Part 1: diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus provisional report of a WHO consultation. *Diabet Med*, 15(7), 539-553. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1096-9136(199807)15:7<539::AID-DIA6 68>3.0.CO;2-S
- American Diabetes Association. (2005). Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Care* 28: S37-S42.
- Amoah, A. G., Owusu, S. K., Acheampong, J. W., Agyenim-Boateng, K., Asare, H. R., Owusu, A. A., Woode, M. K. (2000). A national diabetes care and education programme: the Ghana model. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract*, 49(2-3), 149-157.

- Amoah, A. G., Owusu, S. K., & Adjei, S. (2002). Diabetes in Ghana: a community based prevalence study in Greater Accra. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract*, 56(3), 197205.
- Angyal, S.J. (1979). The composition of reducing sugars in solution. In Asymmetry in Carbohydrates. Harmon, R.E. Ed. New York, Dekker., p 15- 30.
- Anjaneyulu, Muragundla, & Chopra, Kanwaljit. (2004). QUERCETIN, AN ANTI OXIDANT BIOFLAVONOID, ATTENUATES DIABETIC NEPHROPATHY IN RATS. Clinical and Experimental pharmacology and physiology, 31(4), 244-248.
- Ashavaid, Tester F, Todur, Seema P, & Dherai, Alpa J. (2005). Establishment of reference intervals in Indian population. *Indian Journal of Clinical Biochemistry*, 20(2), 110-118.
- Atlas, IDF Diabetes. (2009). The global burden. *International Diabetes Federation. 4th Edition Brussels*, 21-27.
- Avagaro, A., Gnudi, I., Valerio, A., Maran, A., Miola, M., Opportuno, A., Bier, D.E. . (1993). Effects of different plasma glucose concentrations on lipolytic and ketogenic responsiveness to epinephrine in type 1 diabetic subjects. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 76: 845-850.
- Balasse, E. O., & Fery, F. (1989). Ketone body production and disposal: effects of fasting, diabetes, and exercise. *Diabetes Metab Rev*, 5(3), 247-270.
- Balkau, B., Charles, M. A., Drivsholm, T., Borch-Johnsen, K., Wareham, N., Yudkin, J. S., European Group For The Study Of Insulin, Resistance. (2002). Frequency of the WHO metabolic syndrome in European cohorts, and an alternative definition of an insulin resistance syndrome. *Diabetes Metab*, 28(5), 364-376.
- Barham, D., & Trinder, P. (1972). An improved colour reagent for the determination of blood glucose by the oxidase system. *Analyst*, 97, 142-145.
- Basu, A., Close, C.F., Jenkins, D., Krentz, A.J., Nattrass, M., & Wright, A.D. (1992). Persisting mortality in diabetic ketoacidosis. *Diabetes Med*, 10: 282-289.
- Bourdon, Emmanuel, Loreau, Nadine, & Blache, Denis. (1999). Glucose and free radicals impair the antioxidant properties of serum albumin. *The FASEB journal*, 13(2), 233-244.
- Brownlee, M. (2000). Negative consequences of glycation. *Metabolism*, 49(2 Suppl 1), 9-13.
- Brownlee, Michael. (2001). Biochemistry and molecular cell biology of diabetic complications. *Nature*, 414(6865), 813-820.

- Bry, Lynn, Chen, Philip C, & Sacks, David B. (2001). Effects of hemoglobin variants and chemically modified derivatives on assays for glycohemoglobin. *Clinical Chemistry*, 47(2), 153-163.
- Bucala, R., & Cerami, A. (1992). Advanced glycosylation: chemistry, biology, and implications for diabetes and aging. *Adv Pharmacol*, 23, 1-34.
- Calisti, L., & Tognetti, S. (2005). Measure of glycosylated hemoglobin. *Acta Biomed*, 76 Suppl 3, 59-62.
- Chen, Jian-Wen, Gall, Mari-Anne, Yokoyama, Hiroki, Jensen, Jan S, Deckert, Marja, & Parving, Hans-Henrik. (1996). Raised serum sialic acid concentration in NIDDM patients with and without diabetic nephropathy. *Diabetes care*, 19(2), 130-134.
- Chen, Jing, Muntner, Paul, Hamm, L Lee, Jones, Daniel W, Batuman, Vecihi, Fonseca, Vivian, He, Jiang. (2004). The metabolic syndrome and chronic kidney disease in US adults. *Annals of internal medicine*, 140(3), 167-174.
- Christensen, D.L., Friis, H., & Mwaniki, D.L., et al. (2009). Prevalence of glucose intolerance and associated risk factors in rural and urban populations of diff erent ethnic groups in Kenya. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract*
- Christensen, Dirk Lund, Friis, H, Mwaniki, DL, Kilonzo, B, Tetens, Inge, Boit, MK, Borch-Johnsen, K. (2009). Prevalence of glucose intolerance and associated risk factors in rural and urban populations of different ethnic groups in Kenya. *Diabetes research and clinical practice*, 84(3), 303-310.
- Clausen, T. D., Mathiesen, E. R., Hansen, T., Pedersen, O., Jensen, D. M., Lauenborg, J., & Damm, P. (2008). High prevalence of type 2 diabetes and pre-diabetes in adult offspring of women with gestational diabetes mellitus or type 1 diabetes: the role of intrauterine hyperglycemia. *Diabetes Care, 31*(2), 340-346. doi: 10.2337/dc07-1596
- Cohen, M. P. (1988). Nonenzymatic glycation: a central mechanism in diabetic microvasculopathy? *J Diabet Complications*, 2(4), 214-217.
- Cohen, M.P., & Hud, E. (1989). Measurement of plasma glycoalbumin levels with a monoclonal antibody based ELISA. *J Immunol Methods*, 122-279-283.
- Cooke, D.W. (2008). Diabetes Mellitus (DM): Diabetes Mellitus and Disorders of Carbohydrate Metabolism:Merck Manual Professional:. *Merck Publishing*, April 2010. Retrieved 2010-2007-2030.
- Cooper, Richard S, Rotimi, Charles N, Kaufman, Jay S, Owoaje, Eme E, Fraser, Henry, Forrester, Terrence, Cruickshank, J Kennedy. (1997). Prevalence of NIDDM among populations of the African diaspora. *Diabetes Care*, 20(3), 343-348.

- Crook, M.A, Earle, K, Morocutti, A, Yip, A., Viberti, G.C., & Pickup, J.C. (1994). Serum sialic acid, a risk factor for cardiovascular disease, is elevated in IDDM patients with microalbuminuria and clinical proteinuria. *Diabetes Care* (17), 305-310.
- Crowther, C.A, Hiller, J.E., Moss, J.R., McPhee, A.J., Jeffries, W.S., & Robinson, J.S. (2005). Carbohydrate Intolerance Study in Pregnant Women (ACHOIS) Trial Group. Effect of treatment of gestational diabetes mellitus on pregnancy outcomes. N Engl J Med, 352: 2477–2486.
- Cukierman, T, Gerstein, HC, & Williamson, JD. (2005). Cognitive decline and dementia in diabetes—systematic overview of prospective observational studies. *Diabetologia*, 48(12), 2460-2469.
- Davidson, M.B. (1998). Diabetes research and diabetes care: where do we stand? . *diabetes care* 21: 2152-2160.
- Davis, E.D, & Lewis, D.S. (1991). Care of the diabetic patient who is NPO for a procedure. Gastroenterology Nursing. 14(2), 101-105.
- Day, J.F., Ingelbretsen, C.G., & Ingelbretsen, W.R.E et al: (1980). Nonenzymatic glycosylation of serum proteins and hemoglobin: Response to changes in blood glucose levels in diabetic rats. *Diabetes Care*, 29:524-527.
- DeFronzo, R.A., Matsuda, M., & Barret, E. (1994). Diabetic ketoacidosis: a combined metabolic-nephrologic approach to therapy. *Diabetes Rev*, 2: 209-238.
- Domanski, M., & Proschan, M. (2004). The metabolic syndrome. *J Am Coll Cardiol*, 43(8), 1396-1398. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2004.01.021
- Don, Burl R, & Kaysen, George. (2004). Poor nutritional status and inflammation: serum albumin: relationship to inflammation and nutrition. Paper presented at the Seminars in dialysis.
- Doumas, B.T., Watson, W.A., & Biggs, H.G. (1971). Albumin standards and the measurement of serum albumin with bromcresol green. *Clin Chim Acta*, 31, 8796.
- Ducorps, Michel, Baleynaud, Serge, Mayaudon, Herve, Castagne, Christian, & Bauduceau, Bernard. (1996). A prevalence survey of diabetes in Mauritania. *Diabetes care*, 19(7), 761-763.
- Dukas, Laurent C, Schacht, Erich, Mazor, Ze'ev, & Stähelin, Hannes B. (2005). A new significant and independent risk factor for falls in elderly men and women: a low creatinine clearance of less than 65 ml/min. Osteoporosis international, 16(3), 332-338.

- Eckel, Robert H, Grundy, Scott M, & Zimmet, Paul Z. (2005). The metabolic syndrome. *The Lancet*, *365*(9468), 1415-1428.
- Edelstein, Sharon L, Knowler, William C, Bain, Raymond P, Andres, Reubin, BarrettConnor, Elizabeth L, Dowse, Gary K, Muller, Denis C. (1997).
 Predictors of progression from impaired glucose tolerance to NIDDM: an analysis of six prospective studies. *Diabetes*, 46(4), 701-710.
- Ekpenyong, Chris E, Akpan, UP, Ibu, John O, & Nyebuk, Daniel E. (2012). Gender and age specific prevalence and associated risk factors of type 2 diabetes mellitus in Uyo metropolis, south eastern Nigeria. *Diabetol Croat*, 41(1), 1728.
- Elbagir, Murtada N, Eltom, Mohammed A, Elmahadi, Elmahadi MA, Kadam, Ibrahim MS, & Berne, Christian. (1996). A population-based study of the prevalence of diabetes and impaired glucose tolerance in adults in northern Sudan. *Diabetes care*, 19(10), 1126-1128.
- Ennis, E.D., Stahl, E.J.V.B., & Kreisberg, R.A. (1994). The hyperosmolar hyperglycaemic syndrome. *Diabetes Rev*, 2: 115-112.
- Fabiny, D.L. , & Ertingshausen, G. (1971). Automated reaction-rate method for determination of serum creatinine with the CentrifiChem. *Clin Chem* 17, 696700.
- Ferrannini, E. (1998). Insulin resistance vs. insulin deficiency in non- insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus: problems and prospects. *Endocr Rev* 19: 477-490.
- Fichtlscherer, Stephan, Rosenberger, Gunter, Walter, Dirk H, Breuer, Susanne, Dimmeler, Stefanie, & Zeiher, Andreas M. (2000). Elevated C-reactive protein levels and impaired endothelial vasoreactivity in patients with coronary artery disease. *Circulation*, 102(9), 1000-1006.
- Fitzgerald, James T, Anderson, Robert M, & Davis, Wayne K. (1995). Gender differences in diabetes attitudes and adherence. *The diabetes educator*, 21(6), 523-529.
- Ford, E.S. . (2005). Risks for all cause mortality, cardiovascular disease and diabetes associated with the metabolic syndrome. *Diabetes Care* 28: 1769-1778.
- Friedewald, William T, Levy, Robert I, & Fredrickson, Donald S. (1972). Estimation of the concentration of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol in plasma, without use of the preparative ultracentrifuge. *Clinical chemistry*, 18(6), 499-502.
- Gavin III, J.R, Alberti, K.G.M.M., Davidson, M.B, & DeFronzo, R. A. (1997). Report of the expert committee on the diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. *diabetes care*, 20(7), 1183.

- Gerich, J. E., Lorenzi, M., Bier, D. M., Tsalikian, E., Schneider, V., Karam, J. H., & Forsham, P. H. (1976). Effects of physiologic levels of glucagon and growth hormone on human carbohydrate and lipid metabolism. Studies involving administration of exogenous hormone during suppression of endogenous hormone secretion with somatostatin. J Clin Invest, 57(4), 875-884. doi: 10.1172/JCI108364
- Ginsberg, Henry N. (1996). Diabetic dyslipidemia: basic mechanisms underlying the common hypertriglyceridemia and low HDL cholesterol levels. *Diabetes*, 45(Supplement 3), S27-S30.
- Goldberg, Ira J. (2001). Clinical review 124: Diabetic dyslipidemia: causes and consequences. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism*, 86(3), 965.
- Goldstein, D.E. (1984). Is glycosylated haemoglobin clinically useful (Editorial)? *N Engl J Med*, 310: 384-385.
- Goldstein, D.E., Little, R.R., Lorenz, R.A., Malone, J.I., Nathan, D., Peterson, C.M., & Sacks, D.B. (2004). Tests of glycaemia in Diabetes Mellitus. *Diabetes care*, 27: 1761-1773.
- Gornall, A.G., Bardawill, C.J., & David, M.M. (1949). Determination of serum proteins by means of the biuret reaction. *J Biol Chem*, 177, 751-766.
- Greci, L.S., Kailasam, M., Malkani, S., Katz, D.L., Hulinsky, I., Ahmadi, R., & Nawaz, H. (2003). Utility of HbA1C levels for diabetes case finding in hospitalized patients with hyperglycaemia. *Diabetes care* 26: 1064-1068.
- Grundy, S.M. (2002). National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP)-The National Cholesterol Guidelines in 2001, Adult Treatment Panel (ATP) III. Approach to lipoprotein management in 2001 National Cholesterol Guidelines. Am J Cardiol, 90(8A), 11i-21i.
- Grundy, S.M., Brewer Jr., B., Cleeman, J.I., Smith Jr, S.C., & Lenfant, C. (2004). Definition of the metabolic syndrome. Report of the National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute/American Heart Association Conference on Scientific Issues related to definition. *Circulation research*, 109: 433-438.
- Guthrow, C Earl, Morris, Mary Ann, Day, James F, Thorpe, Suzanne R, & Baynes, John W. (1979). Enhanced nonenzymatic glucosylation of human serum albumin in diabetes mellitus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 76(9), 4258-4261.
- Haffner, Steven M, Mykkänen, Leena, Festa, Andreas, Burke, James P, & Stern, Michael P. (2000). Insulin-resistant prediabetic subjects have more atherogenic risk factors than insulin-sensitive prediabetic subjects implications for

preventing coronary heart disease during the prediabetic state. *Circulation*, 101(9), 975-980.

- Hamblin, P. S., Topliss, D. J., Chosich, N., Lording, D. W., & Stockigt, J. R. (1989). Deaths associated with diabetic ketoacidosis and hyperosmolar coma. 19731988. *Med J Aust*, 151(8), 439, 441-432, 444.
- Harzallah, F., Ncibi, N., Alberti, H., Ben, B.A., Smadhi, H., Kanoun, F., & Slimane, H. (2006). Clinical and metabolic characteristics of newly diagnosed diabetic patients: experience of a university hospital in Tunis. *Diabetes Metab*, 32(6), 632–635.
- Hashimoto, Kunihiko, Osugi, Tomoaki, Noguchi, Sanai, Morimoto, Yasuhiko, Wasada, Kenshi, Imai, Shiro, Kasayama, Soji. (2010). A1C but not serum glycated albumin is elevated because of iron deficiency in late pregnancy in diabetic women. *Diabetes Care*, 33(3), 509-511.
- Hedley, A. A., C. L. Ogden, C. L. Johnson, M. D. Carroll, Curtin, L. R., & Flegal, K. M. (2004). Prevalence of overweight and obesity among US children, adolescents, and adults. *JAMA* 291(223): 2847-2850.
- Hillier, Teresa A, & Pedula, Kathryn L. (2001). Characteristics of an Adult Population With Newly Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes The relation of obesity and age of onset. *Diabetes care*, 24(9), 1522-1527.
- Hu, F.B., & Stampfer, M.J. (2003). Is type 2 diabetes mellitus a vascular condition? *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 23:1715–1716.
- Inaba, M., Okuno, S., Kumeda, Y., Yamada, S., Imanishi, Y., Tabata, T., Osaka, C. K. D. Expert Research Group. (2007). Glycated albumin is a better glycemic indicator than glycated hemoglobin values in hemodialysis patients with diabetes: effect of anemia and erythropoietin injection. J Am Soc Nephrol, 18(3), 896-903. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2006070772
- Isomaa, B., Almgren, P., Tuomi, T., Forsen, B., Lahti, K., Nissen, M., Groop, L. (2001). Cardiovascular morbidity and mortality associated with the metabolic syndrome. *Diabetes Care*, 24(4), 683-689.
- Jeffcoate, SL. (2004). Diabetes control and complications: the role of glycated haemoglobin, 25 years on. *Diabetic Medicine*, 21(7), 657-665.
- Jensen, M. D., Caruso, M., Heiling, V., & Miles, J. M. (1989). Insulin regulation of lipolysis in nondiabetic and IDDM subjects. *Diabetes*, 38(12), 1595-1601.
- Jokl, R., & Colwell, J.A. (1997). Arterial thrombosis and atherosclerosis in diabetes. *Diabetes Metab Rev*, 5:1–15.

- Judykay, T. (2007). Nutrition for reducing urea and creatinine in the blood. *Diabetes Care*, 27, 2191-2192.
- Kahn, Richard. (2003). Follow-up report on the diagnosis of diabetes mellitus: The expert committee on the diagnosis and classifications of diabetes mellitus*. *Diabetes care*, 26(11), 3160.
- Kapur, Anil. (2011). Pregnancy: A window of opportunity for improving current and future health. *International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics*, 115, S50-S51.
- Kaushik, B. (2006). Which measure of abdominal adiposity best relates with body mass index among older Bengalee Hindus of Kolkata, India: A comparison of three measures. *Int. J. Anthropol*, 21: 247-252.
- Keller, U., Gerber, P. P., & Stauffacher, W. (1984). Stimulatory effect of norepinephrine on ketogenesis in normal and insulin-deficient humans. Am J Physiol, 247(6 Pt 1), E732-739.
- Kengne, André Pascal, Amoah, Albert GB, & Mbanya, Jean-Claude. (2005). Cardiovascular complications of diabetes mellitus in sub-Saharan Africa. *Circulation*, 112(23), 3592-3601.
- Khurshid, Muhammad Usman, Alvi, Mansoor, Rab, Shabkhez, & Munir, Naeem. (2010). Correlation Between Non-insulin Dependant Diabetes Mellitus and Serum Sialic Acid. Annals of King Edward Medical University, 15(3).
- Kilpatrick, Eric S, Bloomgarden, Zachary T, & Zimmet, Paul Z. (2009). Is haemoglobin A1c a step forward for diagnosing diabetes. *BMJ*, *339*, b4432.
- Kim, C., Newton, K. M., & Knopp, R. H. (2002). Gestational diabetes and the incidence of type 2 diabetes: a systematic review. *Diabetes Care*, 25(10), 1862-1868.
- King, H., Aubert, R. E., & Herman, W. H. (1998). Global burden of diabetes, 19952025: prevalence, numerical estimates, and projections. *Diabetes Care*, 21(9), 1414-1431.
- Koenig, Ronald J, Peterson, Charles M, Jones, Robert L, Saudek, Christopher, Lehrman, Mark, & Cerami, Anthony. (1976). Correlation of glucose regulation and hemoglobin AIc in diabetes mellitus. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 295(8), 417-420.
- Koga, Masafumi, Matsumoto, Soeko, Saito, Hiroshi, & KASAYAMA, Soji. (2006). Body mass index negatively influences glycated albumin, but not glycated hemoglobin, in diabetic patients. *Endocrine journal*, 53(3), 387-391.

- Koga, Masafumi, Murai, Jun, Saito, Hiroshi, & Kasayama, Soji. (2010). Glycated albumin and glycated hemoglobin are influenced differently by endogenous insulin secretion in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes care*, *33*(2), 270-272.
- Koga, Masafumi, Murai, Jun, Saito, Hiroshi, & Kasayama, Soji. (2011). Prediction of near_future glycated hemoglobin levels using glycated albumin levels before and after treatment for diabetes. *Journal of diabetes investigation*, 2(4), 304309.
- Koga, Masafumi, Otsuki, Michio, Matsumoto, Sueko, Saito, Hiroshi, Mukai, Mikio, & Kasayama, Soji. (2007). Negative association of obesity and its related chronic inflammation with serum glycated albumin but not glycated hemoglobin levels. *Clinica chimica acta*, 378(1), 48-52.
- Kosecki, Sheri M, Rodgers, Philip T, & Adams, Martha B. (2005). Glycemic monitoring in diabetics with sickle cell plus β-thalassemia hemoglobinopathy. *Annals of Pharmacotherapy*, *39*(9), 1557-1560.
- Krauss, Ronald M. (2004). Lipids and lipoproteins in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes care*, 27(6), 1496-1504.
- Krolewski, A. S., Niewczas, M. A., Skupien, J., Gohda, T., Smiles, A., Eckfeldt, J. H., Warram, J. H. (2014). Early progressive renal decline precedes the onset of microalbuminuria and its progression to macroalbuminuria. *Diabetes Care*, 37(1), 226-234. doi: 10.2337/dc13-0985
- Krolewski, A.S., Laffel, L.M.B., Krolewski, M., Quinn, M., & Warram, J.H. (1995). Glycosylated haemoglobin and the risk of microalbuminuria in patients with insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. N Engl J Med, 332: 1251-1255.
- Kumar, V., N. Fausto, A. K. Abbas, Cotran, R. S., & Robbins, S. L. (2005). *Robbins* and Cotran Pathologic Basis of Disease.
- Kuzuya, T., & Matsuda, A. (1997). Classification of diabetes on the basis of etiologies versus degree of insulin deficiency. *Diabetes Care*, 20(2), 219-220.

Langat, M.K. (2011). Prevention of Diabetes Mellitus complications among adults.

- Lawson, M. L., Gerstein, H. C., Tsui, E., & Zinman, B. (1999). Effect of intensive therapy on early macrovascular disease in young individuals with type 1 diabetes. A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Diabetes Care, 22 Suppl* 2(supp. 2), B35-39.
- Lee, J. Y., Ye, J., Gao, Z., Youn, H. S., Lee, W. H., Zhao, L., Hwang, D. H. (2003). Reciprocal modulation of Toll-like receptor-4 signaling pathways involving MyD88 and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/AKT by saturated and polyunsaturated fatty acids. J Biol Chem, 278(39), 37041-37051. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M305213200

- Levey, A.S., Coresh, J., Balk, E., Kausz, A.T., Levin, A., Steffes, M.W., Eknoyan, G. (2003). National Kidney Foundation practice guidelines for chronic kidney disease: evaluation, classification and stratification. *Ann Intern Med*, 137–147.
- Levey, Andrew S, Eckardt, Kai-Uwe, Tsukamoto, Yusuke, Levin, Adeera, Coresh, Josef, Rossert, Jerome, Eknoyan, Garabed. (2005). Definition and classification of chronic kidney disease: a position statement from Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO). *Kidney international*, 67(6), 2089-2398.
- Levitt, N.S. (2008). Diabetes in Africa: epidemiology, management and health care challenges. *Heart*, 4: 1376–1382.
- Levitt, Naomi S, Katzenellenbogen, Judith M, Bradshaw, Deborah, Hoffman, Margaret N, & Bonnici, Francois. (1993). The prevalence and identification of risk factors for NIDDM in urban Africans in Cape Town, South Africa. *Diabetes care*, 16(4), 601-607.
- Lu, L., Sedor, J.R., Gulani, V., Schelling, J.R., O'Brien, A., Flask, C.A., & MacRae, D.K. (2011). Use of diffusion tensor MRI to identify early changes in diabetic nephropathy. *Am J Nephrol* 34:476–482.
- Lyons, Timothy J, & Jenkins, Alicia J. (1997). Glycation, oxidation, and lipoxidation in the development of the complications of diabetes: a carbonyl stress hypothesis. *Diabetes reviews (Alexandria, Va.)*, 5(4), 365.
- Macky, T. A., Khater, N., Al-Zamil, M. A., El Fishawy, H., & Soliman, M. M. (2011). Epidemiology of diabetic retinopathy in Egypt: a hospital-based study. *Ophthalmic Res*, 45(2), 73-78. doi: 10.1159/000314876
- Maillard, LC. (1912). Action of amino acids on sugars. Formation of melanoidins in a methodical way. *Compt. rend, 154,* 66.
- Makita, Z., Vlassara, H., Rayfield, E., Cartwright, K., Friedman, E., Rodby, R., .Bucala, R. (1992). Haemoglobin-AGE: a circulating marker of advanced glycosylation. *Science* 258: 651-653.
- Malik, Vasanti S, Popkin, Barry M, Bray, George A, Després, Jean-Pierre, Willett, Walter C, & Hu, Frank B. (2010). Sugar-sweetened beverages and risk of metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes A meta-analysis. *Diabetes care*, 33(11), 2477-2483.
- Malone, M.L., Gennis, V., & Goodwin, J.S. (1992). Characteristics of diabetic ketoacidosis in older versus young adults *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 40: 1100-1104.
- Mbanya, Jean-Claude, & Sobngwi, Eugene. (2003). Diabetes microvascular and macrovascular disease in Africa. *European Journal of Cardiovascular Risk*, 10(2), 97-102.

- Mbanya, Jean Claude N, Motala, Ayesha A, Sobngwi, Eugene, Assah, Felix K, & Enoru, Sostanie T. (2010). Diabetes in sub-saharan africa. *The lancet*, *375*(9733), 2254-2266.
- McCance, DR, Pettitt, DJ, Hanson, RL, Jacobsson, LTH, Bennett, PH, & Knowler, WC. (1994). Glucose, insulin concentrations and obesity in childhood and adolescence as predictors of NIDDM. *Diabetologia*, 37(6), 617-623.
- McGarry, J. D. (1979). Lilly Lecture 1978. New perspectives in the regulation of ketogenesis. *Diabetes*, 28(5), 517-523.
- McGarry, J.D., Woeltje, K.F., Kuwajima, M., & D.W., Foster. (1989). Regulation of ketogenesis and the renaissance of carnitine palmitoyl transferase. *Diabetes Metab Rev* 5: 271-284.
- McLarty, D.G, Pollitt, C., & Swai, A.B.M. (1990). Diabetes in Africa. *Diabet Med* 7:670–684.
- Mitolo, LT, Dare, WN, & Chris-Ozoko, LE. (2015). Body Mass Index (BMI) and Waist Hip Ratio (WHR) Among Young Adults of Delta State Origin. World Journal of Medical Sciences, 12(1), 21-25.
- Miyashita, Yumi, Nishimura, Rimei, Morimoto, Aya, Matsudaira, Toru, Sano, Hironari, & Tajima, Naoko. (2007). Glycated albumin is low in obese, type 2 diabetic patients. *Diabetes research and clinical practice*, 78(1), 51-55.
- Mollentze, WF, Moore, AJ, Steyn, AF, Joubert, G, Steyn, K, Oosthuizen, GM, & Weich, DJV. (1995). Coronary heart disease risk factors in a rural and urban Orange Free State black population. South African Medical Journal/SuidAfrikaanse Mediese Tydskrift, 85(2), 90-96.
- Morita, Shinya, Kasayama, Soji, Deguchi, Reiko, Hirai, Koichi, Mukai, Kosuke, Utsu, Yoshihiko, Koga, Masafumi. (2013). Glycated albumin, rather than Hba1c, reflects diabetic retinopathy in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *J Diabetes Metab*, 4(6), 4-7.
- Moss, S.E., Klein, R., Klein, B.E.K., & Meuer, M.S. (1994). The association of glycaemia and cause-specific mortality in a diabetic population. *Arch Intern Med*, 154: 2473-2479.
- Motala, A.A. (2010). Diabetes Leadership Forum 2010: This time for Africa. *Journal* of Endocrinology, Metabolism and Diabetes of South Africa., 15(3), 111-112.
- Motala, A.A., Omar, M.A.K., & Pirie, F.J. (2008). Epidemiology of diabetes in Africa. 2nd edn, 133–146.

- Muntner, Paul, Coresh, Josef, Smith, J Clinton, Eckfeldt, John, & Klag, Michael J. (2000). Plasma lipids and risk of developing renal dysfunction: the atherosclerosis risk in communities study. *Kidney international*, 58(1), 293-301.
- Murai, Jun, Soga, Sumiko, Saito, Hiroshi, & Koga, Masafumi. (2013). Usefulness of glycated albumin for early detection of deterioration of glycemic control state after discharge from educational admission. *Endocrine journal*, 60(4), 409-413.
- Musey, Victoria C, Lee, Jenny K, Crawford, Rochanda, Klatka, Morel Ann, McAdams, Debra, & Phillips, Lawrence S. (1995). Diabetes in urban African-Americans.
 I. Cessation of insulin therapy is the major precipitating cause of diabetic ketoacidosis. *Diabetes Care*, 18(4), 483-489.
- Nagayama, Harumi, Inaba, Masaaki, Okabe, Reiko, Emoto, Masanori, Ishimura, Eiji, Okazaki, Shuji, & Nishizawa, Yoshiki. (2009). Glycated albumin as an improved indicator of glycemic control in hemodialysis patients with type 2 diabetes based on fasting plasma glucose and oral glucose tolerance test. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy*, *63*(3), 236-240.
- Nathan, D.M., Cleary, P.A., & Backlund, J.Y., et al; (2005). Diabetes Control and Complications Trial/ Epidemiology of Diabetes Interventions and Complications (DCCT/EDIC) Study Research Group. Intensive diabetes treatment and cardiovascular disease in patients with type 1 diabetes. *N Engl J Med* 353:2643–2653.
- Nathan, D.M., Singer, D.E., Hurxthal, K., & Goodson, J.D. (1984). The clinical information value of the glycosylated haemoglobin assay. *N Engl J Med*, 310: 341-346.
- Nguyen, Ninh T, Magno, Cheryl P, Lane, Karen T, Hinojosa, Marcelo W, & Lane, John S. (2008). Association of hypertension, diabetes, dyslipidemia, and metabolic syndrome with obesity: findings from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1999 to 2004. *Journal of the American College of Surgeons*, 207(6), 928-934.
- Norris, S.L, Engelgau, M.M., & Narayan, K.M.V. (2001). Effectiveness of selfmanagement training in type 2 diabetes a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. *Diabetes care*, 24(3), 561-587.
- Nosadini, R., Avogaro, A., Doria, A., Fioretto, P., Trevisan, R., & Morocutti, A. (1989). Ketone body metabolism: a physiological and clinical overview. *Diabetes Metab Rev*, 5(3), 299-319.
- Nsiah, K., Shang, V. O., Boateng, K. A., & Mensah, F. (2015). Prevalence of metabolic syndrome in type 2 diabetes mellitus patients. *International Journal of Applied* and Basic Medical Research, 5(2), 133–138.

- Nurjhan, N., Consoli, A., & Gerich, J. (1992). Increased lipolysis and its consequences on gluconeogenesis in non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. J Clin Invest, 89(1), 169-175. doi: 10.1172/JCI115558
- O'Gara, Patrick T, Kushner, Frederick G, Ascheim, Deborah D, Casey, Donald E, Chung, Mina K, de Lemos, James A, Franklin, Barry A. (2013). 2013 ACCF/AHA guideline for the management of ST-elevation myocardial infarction: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/ American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, *61*(4), e78-e140.
- Ogawa, A., Hayashi, A., Kishihara, E., Yoshino, S., Takeuchi, A., & Shichiri, M. (2012). New indices for predicting glycaemic variability. *PLoS One*, 7(9), e46517. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0046517
- Oghagbon, K.E., Odili, V.U., Nwangwa, E.K., & Pender, K.E. (2009). Body Mass Index and Blood pressure pattern of students in a Nigeria University. *Int. J. Health Res*, 2(2), 177-182.
- Okada, Tomonari, Nakao, Toshiyuki, Matsumoto, Hiroshi, Nagaoka, Yume, Tomaru, Ryo, Iwasawa, Hideaki, & Wada, Toshikazu. (2011). Influence of proteinuria on glycated albumin values in diabetic patients with chronic kidney disease. *Internal Medicine*, *50*(1), 23-29.
- Okumura, Akinori, Mitamura, Yoshinori, Namekata, Kazuhiko, Nakamura, Kazuaki, Harada, Chikako, & Harada, Takayuki. (2007). Glycated albumin induces activation of activator protein-1 in retinal glial cells. Japanese journal of ophthalmology, 51(3), 236-237.
- Pickup, J. C. (2004). Inflammation and activated innate immunity in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, 27(3), 813-823.
- Polonsky, W. H., Anderson, B. J., Lohrer, P. A., Aponte, J. E., Jacobson, A. M., & Cole, C. F. (1994). Insulin omission in women with IDDM. *Diabetes Care*, 17(10), 1178-1185.
- Preeth, J.S., Tsegai, S., MaekeleTsgehannes, M., Essiet, G., & Narmatha, M.P. (2014). Treatment pattern and glycemic control of oral hypoglycaemic drugs among type ii dm patients in eritrea.
- Provenzano, Laura Ferreira, Stark, Sue, Steenkiste, Ann, Piraino, Beth, & Sevick, Mary Ann. (2014). Dietary Sodium Intake in Type 2 Diabetes. *Clinical Diabetes*, 32(3), 106-112.
- Pu, Li Jin, Lu, Lin, Shen, Wei Feng, Zhang, Qi, Zhang, Rui Yan, Zhang, Jian Sheng, Chen, Qiu Jin. (2007). Increased serum glycated albumin level is associated with the presence and severity of coronary artery disease in type 2 diabetic patients. *Circulation Journal*, 71(7), 1067-1073.

- Reichard, G. A., Jr., Skutches, C. L., Hoeldtke, R. D., & Owen, O. E. (1986). Acetone metabolism in humans during diabetic ketoacidosis. *Diabetes*, 35(6), 668-674.
- Risérus, Ulf, Willett, Walter C, & Hu, Frank B. (2009). Dietary fats and prevention of type 2 diabetes. *Progress in lipid research*, 48(1), 44-51.
- Rohlfing, C.L., Little, R.R., Wiedmeyer, H.M., England, J.D., Madsen, R., Harris, M.I., Goldstein, D.E. (2000). Use of GHb (HbA1C) in screening for undiagnosed diabetes in the U.S population. *Diabetes Care*, 23: 187-191.
- Rubins, H. B. (2000). Triglycerides and coronary heart disease: implications of recent clinical trials. *J Cardiovasc Risk*, 7(5), 339-345.
- Rydall, A. C., Rodin, G. M., Olmsted, M. P., Devenyi, R. G., & Daneman, D. (1997). Disordered eating behavior and microvascular complications in young women with insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *N Engl J Med*, 336(26), 1849-1854. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199706263362601
- Sakuma, Nobuko, Omura, Masao, Oda, Eisei, & Saito, Toshikazu. (2011). Converse contributions of fasting and postprandial glucose to HbA1c and glycated albumin. *Diabetology International*, 2(4), 162-171.
- Sarwar, Nadeem, Aspelund, Thor, Eiriksdottir, Gudny, Gobin, Reeta, Seshasai, SR, Forouhi, Nita G, Gudnason, Vilmundur. (2010). Markers of dysglycaemia and risk of coronary heart disease in people without diabetes: Reykjavik prospective study and systematic review. *PLoS Med*, 7(5), e1000278.
- Schultze, Hermann E, & Heremans, Joseph F. (1966). Molecular biology of human proteins with special reference to plasma proteins. Vol. 1. Nature and metabolism of extracellular proteins. *Molecular biology of human proteins with special reference to plasma proteins. Vol. 1. Nature and metabolism of extracellular proteins.*
- Shamoon, H., Hendler, R., & Sherwin, R.S. (1981). Synergistic interactions among antinsulin hormones in the pathogenesis of stress hyperglycaemia in humans. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 52: 1235-1241.
- Sharma, Rahul, Grover, Vijay L, & Chaturvedi, Sanjay. (2011). Recipe for diabetes disaster: a study of dietary behaviors among adolescent students in south Delhi, India. *International Journal of Diabetes in Developing Countries*, 31(1), 4-8.
- Shima, K, Ito, N, Abe, F, Hirota, M, Yano, M, Yamamoto, Y, Noguchi, K. (1988). High-performance liquid chromatographic assay of serum glycated albumin. *Diabetologia*, 31(8), 627-631.
- Shojania, Kaveh G, Ranji, Sumant R, McDonald, Kathryn M, Grimshaw, Jeremy M, Sundaram, Vandana, Rushakoff, Robert J, & Owens, Douglas K. (2006). Effects

of quality improvement strategies for type 2 diabetes on glycemic control: a meta-regression analysis. *Jama*, 296(4), 427-440.

- Shrestha, Sugam, Gyawali, Prajwal, Shrestha, Rojeet, Poudel, Bibek, & Sigdel, Manoj. (2008). Serum Urea and Creatinine in Diabetic and non-diabetic Subjects. *Journal of Nepal Association for Medical Laboratory Sciences P*, 11, 12.
- Singer, D.E., Coley, C.M., Samet, J.H., & Nathan, D.M. (1989). Tests of glycaemia in diabetes mellitus: their uses in establishing a diagnosis and in treatment. Ann Intern Med, 110: 125-137.
- Singh, Priti, Khan, Salman, & Mittal, Rabindra Kumar. (2014). Glycemic Status and Renal Function among Type 2 Diabetics. *Bangladesh Journal of Medical Science*, 13(4), 406-410.
- Singh, R., Barden, A., Mori, T., & Beilin, L. (2001). Advanced glycation end-products: a review. *Diabetologia*, 44(2), 129-146. doi: 10.1007/s001250051 591
- Stephen, J. D. (2007). Why Are Women More Likely to Be Obese Than Men?
- Stratton, I. M., Adler, A. I., Neil, H. A., Matthews, D. R., Manley, S. E., Cull, C. A., Holman, R. R. (2000). Association of glycaemia with macrovascular and microvascular complications of type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 35): prospective observational study. *BMJ*, 321(7258), 405-412.
- Stratton, Irene M, Adler, Amanda I, Neil, H Andrew W, Matthews, David R, Manley, Susan E, Cull, Carole A, Holman, Rury R. (2000). Association of glycaemia with macrovascular and microvascular complications of type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 35): prospective observational study. *Bmj*, 321(7258), 405-412.
- Suwa, Tomoko, Ohta, Akio, Matsui, Tomoya, Koganei, Rieko, Kato, Hiroyuki, Kawata, Takehiro, Murakami, Kaori. (2010). Relationship between clinical markers of glycemia and glucose excursion evaluated by continuous glucose monitoring (CGM). *Endocrine journal*, 57(2), 135-140.
- Taghibiglou, Changiz, Carpentier, André, Van Iderstine, Stephen C, Chen, Biao, Rudy, Debbie, Aiton, Andrea, Adeli, Khosrow. (2000). Mechanisms of Hepatic Very Low Density Lipoprotein Overproduction in Insulin Resistance evidence for enhanced lipoprotein assembly, reduced intracellular apob degradation, and increased microsomal triglyceride transfer protein in a fructose-fed hamster model. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 275(12), 8416-8425.
- Tahara, Yasuhiro, & Shima, Kenji. (1993). The response of GHb to stepwise plasma glucose change over time in diabetic patients. *Diabetes Care*, *16*(9), 1313-1314.

- Tahara, Yasuhiro, & Shima, Kenji. (1995). Kinetics of HbA1c, glycated albumin, and fructosamine and analysis of their weight functions against preceding plasma glucose level. *Diabetes Care*, *18*(4), 440-447.
- Takahashi, S., Uchino, H., Shimizu, T., Kanazawa, A., Tamura, Y., Sakai, K., Tanaka,
 Y. (2007). Comparison of glycated albumin (GA) and glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c) in type 2 diabetic patients: usefulness of GA for evaluation of shortterm changes in glycemic control. *Endocr J*, 54(1), 139-144.
- Talke, H., & Schubert, G.E. (1965). Enzymatic Urea Determination in the Blood and Serum in the Warburg Optical Test. *Klin Wochenschr*, 43, 174-175.
- Taskinen, M. R. (2003). Diabetic dyslipidaemia: from basic research to clinical practice. *Diabetologia*, 46(6), 733-749. doi: 10.1007/s00125-003-1111-y
- Thorn, Lena M, Forsblom, Carol, Fagerudd, Johan, Thomas, Merlin C, PetterssonFernholm, Kim, Saraheimo, Markku, Af Björkesten, Clas-Göran. (2005). Metabolic syndrome in type 1 diabetes association with diabetic nephropathy and glycemic control (the FinnDiane Study). *Diabetes care*, 28(8), 2019-2024.
- Titty, Felix-Val K, Owiredu, WKBA, & Agyei-Frempong, MT. (2008). Prevalence of metabolic syndrome and its individual components among diabetic patients in Ghana. J. Boil. Sci, 8, 1057-1061.
- Trinder, P. (1969). Determination of blood glucose using 4-amino phenazone as oxygen acceptor. *J Clin Pathol* 22, 246.
- Turner, Robert, Holman, Rury, Stratton, Irene, & Cull, Carole. (1998). Tight blood pressure control and risk of macrovascular and microvascular complications in type 2 diabetes: UKPDS 38. *British Medical Journal*, 317(7160), 703.
- Umpierrez, G.E., Kelly, J.P., Navarrete, J.E., Casals, M.M.C., & Kitabchi, A.E. (1997). Hyperglycaemic crisis in urban blacks. *Arch Intern Med*, 157: 669-675.
- Vitelli, L.I., Shahar, E., Heiss, G., McGovern, P.G., Brancati, F.L., Eckfeldt, J.H., & Folsorn, A.R. (1997). Glycosylated haemoglobin level and carotid intimamedial thickening in nondiabetic individuals: the atherosclerosis risk in communities study. *Diabetes Care*, 20: 1454-1548.
- Vlassara, H., Bucala, R., & Striker, L. (1994). Pathogenic effects of AGEs: Biochemical, biologic, and clinical implications for diabetes and aging. *Lab Invest* 70: 138-151.
- W.H.O, I. D. F. (2006). Definition and diagnosis of diabetes mellitus and intermediate hyperglycemia: report of a WHO. *IDF consultation*.

- Welborn, Timothy A, Dhaliwal, Satvinder S, & Bennett, Stanley A. (2003). Waist-hip ratio is the dominant risk factor predicting cardiovascular death in Australia. *Medical Journal of Australia*, 179(11/12), 580-585.
- Weyer, C., Tataranni, P.A., Bogardus, C., & Pratley, R.E. (2001). Insulin resistance and insulin secretory dysfunction are indpendent predictors of worsening of glucose tolerance during each stage of type 2 diabetes development. *Diabetes Care* 24: 84-88.
- Wild, S., Roglic, G., Green, A., Sicree, R., & King, H. (2004). Global prevalence of diabetes: estimates for the year 2000 and projections for 2030. *Diabetes Care*, 27(5), 1047-1053.
- Williams textbook of endocrinology. (2000). *Williams textbook of endocrinology* (12 ed.). Philadelphia,: Elsevier/Saunders,.
- Won, HK, Kim, KJ, Lee, B.W, Kang, ES, Cha, BS, & Lee, HC. (2012). Reduction in glycated albumin can predict change in HbA1c: comparison of oral hypoglycaemic agent and insulin treatments. *Diabetic Medicine*, 29(1), 74-79.
- World Health Organization. (2006). Definition and diagnosis of diabetes mellitus and intermediate hyperglycaemia :report of a WHO.
- Yamada, Shinsuke, Inaba, Masaaki, Shidara, Kaori, Okada, Shigeki, Emoto, Masanori, Ishimura, Eiji, & Nishizawa, Yoshiki. (2008). Association of glycated albumin, but not glycated hemoglobin, with peripheral vascular calcification in hemodialysis patients with type 2 diabetes. *Life sciences*, 83(13), 516-519.
- Yoshiuchi, Kazutomi, Matsuhisa, Munehide, Katakami, Naoto, Nakatani, Yoshihisa, Sakamoto, Kenya, Matsuoka, Takaaki, Yamasaki, Yoshimitsu. (2008). Glycated albumin is a better indicator for glucose excursion than glycated hemoglobin in type 1 and type 2 diabetes. *Endocrine journal*, *55*(3), 503-507.
- Zammit, V.A. (1994). Regulation of ketone body metoablism, a cellular perspective. *Diabetes Rev* 2: 132-155.
- Zimmet, Paul, Alberti, KGMM, & Shaw, Jonathan. (2001). Global and societal implications of the diabetes epidemic. *Nature*, 414(6865), 782-787.

WJ SANE NO